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          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I apologize for

          3  running late.  And welcome to today's joint hearing

          4  of the Department of Education, New Health Education

          5  Curriculum by the Education and Health Committees of

          6  the City Council. My colleague that's co-chairing

          7  this meeting, Joel Rivera of the Bronx, the Majority

          8  Leader, and let me just introduce our other

          9  colleagues that are present this afternoon. All the

         10  way over standing is Vincent Ignizio from the great

         11  Borough of Staten Island, Lew Fidler from the great

         12  Borough of Brooklyn, Peter Vallone, Jr., from the

         13  great Borough of Queens, and in front, Al Vann from

         14  the great Borough of Brooklyn, and Simcha Felder of

         15  the great Borough of Brooklyn.

         16                 I just want to make a few opening

         17  remarks and then we'll move on to the opening

         18  statement from our colleague, Joel Rivera, Chair of

         19  the Health Committee. Back on October 18th of 2007,

         20  Chancellor Joel Klein announced the creation of a

         21  new Office of Fitness and Health Education, and one

         22  of the first initiatives to be introduced by this

         23  office is a new health curriculum is for middle and

         24  high school students called Health Smart.

         25                 For high school students, Health
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          2  Smart will be supplemented with another curriculum

          3  reducing the risk, in order to meet State learning

          4  standards for sex education. Why do we need a new

          5  curriculum? Certainly we need to respond more

          6  effectively to growing health concerns in areas such

          7  as obesity, teen pregnancy and HIV/AIDS.

          8                 All of us are concerned about the

          9  health of the City's children and youth, especially

         10  given such disturbing facts. The incident of obesity

         11  which can lead to diabetes, high blood pressure,

         12  heart disease and cancer among other conditions is

         13  epidemic in New York City and begins early in life.

         14                 According to a 2003 survey by the

         15  Department of Education, and the Department of

         16  Health and Mental Hygiene, 43 percent of New York

         17  City's elementary school children in grades

         18  kindergarten through fifth grade were overweight or

         19  obese, almost triple the national rate.

         20                 Another study of children in Head

         21  Start programs in New York City found that 42

         22  percent of these pre-schoolers were obese or

         23  overweight.

         24                 Recent statistics on youth engaging

         25  in risky behaviors also provide a compelling case
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          2  for improving health and sex education for City

          3  students.

          4                 According to the 2005 New York City

          5  Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 72 percent of New York

          6  City youth have consumed alcohol at least once with

          7  more than one-quarter drinking alcohol before the

          8  age of 13, and one in three City youth reporting

          9  having tried marijuana or other drugs at least once.

         10                 Even more startling, one in four

         11  students in New York City and nationwide reports

         12  being offered, sold or given illegal drugs on school

         13  grounds.

         14                 The survey also reveals that 48

         15  percent, nearly half of public school students in

         16  New York City, say they have had sex with almost one

         17  in five reportingly having had four or more sex

         18  partners. However, 31 percent of sexually active

         19  City youth do not use condoms, placing themselves

         20  and their partners at increased risk of HIV/AIDS or

         21  other sexually transmitted diseases.

         22                 In fact, New York City has been

         23  dubbed the epicenter of HIV/AIDS epidemic, with the

         24  highest number of AIDS cases in the United States.

         25  And that's nothing to be proud of, let me tell you
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          2  that.

          3                 While the State Education Department

          4  mandates that health education be taught in

          5  elementary and secondary schools, the requirements

          6  are very vague. It is appalling that the State does

          7  not require comprehensive sex education for all

          8  students, especially given the troubling statistics

          9  I mentioned earlier.

         10                 However, the State does require that

         11  schools require HIV/AIDS instruction in grades K

         12  through 12, but allow students to opt out of AIDS

         13  instruction if their parents agree to provide such

         14  instruction at home.

         15                 We're here today to get additional

         16  information about Department of Education's new

         17  health curriculum for middle school and high school

         18  students, and greater clarity with regard to its

         19  implementation.

         20                 The Committee has requested a copy of

         21  both the old and the new curriculum prior to this

         22  hearing. But as of right now, to the best of my

         23  knowledge, we have not received anything from them.

         24  So, it's unclear to me how the new one differs from

         25  the old when we request the information and don't
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          2  get it.

          3                 And I'm going to be asking that, so

          4  be ready to answer that. But we have not received it

          5  to date, so it's unclear how the new one differs

          6  from the old.

          7                 We are also concerned about who will

          8  be teaching the health education curriculum, since

          9  the State of New York mandates that it be a

         10  certified health educator for junior high and high

         11  school grades, but advocates report that there is a

         12  shortage of teachers with such health certification.

         13                 Hopefully today we will get answers

         14  to these and other important questions, as well as

         15  hear testimony from the unions, advocates, students

         16  and other potential implementation issues and

         17  concerns.

         18                 I would now like to turn the floor

         19  over to my colleague, the Majority Leader Joel

         20  Rivera, the Chair of the Health Committee, to make

         21  his opening statement.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Council Member Jackson.

         24                 Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

         25  My name is Joel Rivera. I'm the Chair of the Health
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          2  Committee here in the City Council. I want to thank

          3  my colleague, the Chair of the Education Committee,

          4  Robert Jackson, for holding this joint hearing today

          5  with us in the Health Committee.

          6                 We are here to discuss the Department

          7  of Education's new Health Education curriculum.

          8                 This is an incredibly important topic

          9  to all of us. As Council Member Jackson mentioned,

         10  obesity and health related problems are an epidemic

         11  within the City of New York.

         12                 Largely due to obesity, we are now

         13  seeing children develop the type of diabetes that

         14  used to be called adult onset diabetes. This is

         15  extremely troubling, especially since there are so

         16  many ways obesity can be prevented. It is crucial

         17  that City schools focus on teaching children about

         18  good eating habits, proper nutrition and fairness.

         19                 I am also very concerned about the

         20  problem of pregnancy and parenthood among our young

         21  population.

         22                 Although almost half of public high

         23  school students in the City have had sex, only 31

         24  percent of sexually active youth do not use condoms.

         25  The result of this troubling behavior is all too
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          2  clear.

          3                 According to the most recent data,

          4  nearly 10,000 girls and young women under the age of

          5  18 became pregnant in 2005. This includes almost

          6  1,000 girls under the age of 15. Of the girls who

          7  became pregnant, nearly 30 percent gave birth to

          8  live babies.

          9                 The Borough of the Bronx, which

         10  includes the district I represent, had the second

         11  highest percentage of pregnancies and births. This

         12  data makes clear how important it is for all New

         13  York City schools to include a comprehensive sex

         14  education curriculum as part of their program.

         15                 School children need to learn how to

         16  make good choices about their sexuality and they

         17  cannot do this without complete and medically

         18  accurate information.

         19                 I am anxious to hear from

         20  representatives from the Department of Education. I

         21  hope that they can provide us with details on the

         22  new health curriculum and how it differs from the

         23  previous curriculum, since as Council Member Jackson

         24  already mentioned, the Committees have not received

         25  the copies of the new curriculum that we requested.
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          2                 I also look forward to learning about

          3  the Department's plan for implementing the

          4  curriculum. It is critical that these programs reach

          5  all of our school children so that we can address

          6  this serious concern.

          7                 We have also been joined by other

          8  members of the Committees. To my right we have

          9  Councilwoman Maria del Carmen Arroyo. In front of me

         10  we have Council Member Oliver Koppell, Council

         11  Member James Vacca and Councilwoman Jessica Lappin,

         12  as well. As well as Councilwoman Rosie Mendez, and I

         13  believe that's everyone. And Council Member Dan

         14  Garodnick sitting with the press. He is our liaison

         15  today.

         16                 At this point in time I want to thank

         17  the Department of Education for being here and for

         18  providing their testimony, and you may begin. Just

         19  state your name for the record and give us your

         20  testimony.

         21                 MS. BENSON: Lori Rose Benson.

         22                 Good afternoon, Chair Jackson, Chair

         23  Rivera, and members of the Education and Health

         24  Committees. I'm Lori Rose Benson, Director of the

         25  Office of Fitness and Health Education for the
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          2  Department of Education.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  speak about the latest progress we are making in

          5  meeting the instructional needs of our public school

          6  students.

          7                 I first want to briefly outline how

          8  we got where we are today, and then go into detail

          9  about our new health curriculum for middle and high

         10  school students.

         11                 The last time I sat in this Chair, I

         12  was Director of the Office if Fitness and Physical

         13  Education, and in 2007 my team had the tremendous

         14  honor of securing two national awards. It recognized

         15  the Department's efforts and recognized us as a

         16  national leader in fitness and physical education.

         17                 The National Association of Sports

         18  and Physical Education is the organization that sets

         19  the standards for fitness instruction. I received

         20  the NASPE Award as the best physical education

         21  administrator in the country, but the best was yet

         22  to come.

         23                 Last spring Chancellor Klein accepted

         24  NASPE's Ross Merrick National Recognition Award for

         25  achievement in physical education. The award
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          2  recognized the Department's work in developing a

          3  comprehensive physical education program, piloting

          4  the physical best curriculum, training thousands of

          5  physical education teachers and implementing the New

          6  York City fitness graham at more than 700 schools

          7  with 500,000 students receiving individual fitness

          8  reports in nine home languages to share with their

          9  families.

         10                 This was the first time in NASPE's

         11  history that the annual award has gone to a school

         12  district. Past winners included the American Heart

         13  Association and the United States Olympic Committee.

         14                 Members of the joint committee here

         15  today know from both their personal and professional

         16  experience the value of fitness habits in daily

         17  life.

         18                 For the record, both Committee chairs

         19  recently ran the New York City Marathon, and while

         20  running is an excellent activity, it is not

         21  necessarily the activity that will ignite every

         22  child's passion for lifelong fitness habits.

         23                 It is so important that all adults

         24  consider how their own fitness and health habits

         25  influence the children in their lives.
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          2                 In July 2007, the Chancellor merged

          3  the previously separate offices of fitness and

          4  physical education and the Office of Health,

          5  Education and Family Living, to maximize the impact

          6  of fitness and health instruction for all students

          7  as part of the Children First Reforms.

          8                 At the national, state and City

          9  level, we increasingly understand how these two

         10  elements, fitness and health, influence each of us

         11  from birth.

         12                 The new office of fitness and health

         13  education combines two important educational content

         14  areas with a charge to teach students what they need

         15  to know at each stage of life to stay healthy and to

         16  lay the ground work for positive life-long habits,

         17  and life-long habits of mind and body.

         18                 I have no delusions about how

         19  pressing the need is. Following the City's fiscal

         20  crisis in 1975, support for health and fitness

         21  education was scaled back. Faced with budget cuts,

         22  schools made the difficult choice of curtailing

         23  instruction in these two areas. During the same

         24  period, the country saw the proliferation of the

         25  couch potato soda-sipping culture, the emergence of
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          2  HIV/AIDS, epidemics of asthma, diabetes and obesity.

          3  When people look at the health statistics for the

          4  1.1 million students in our schools, the problems

          5  are staggering, and I am sometimes asked if I find

          6  my job overwhelming and depressing, and the simple

          7  answer is no.

          8                 I strongly believe that while schools

          9  do not control all of the elements of the healthy

         10  lifestyle, what happens in schools can have a

         11  lifelong impact on student choices.

         12                 There are huge challenges, but there

         13  are also many tools, resources, opportunities and

         14  partnerships that New York City can cultivate to

         15  successfully meet those challenges.

         16                 My job is to keep the focus on

         17  providing rigorous instruction, developing and

         18  training the present and next generation of

         19  teachers, and expanding opportunities for our

         20  students to access New York City health and fitness

         21  resources.

         22                 Merging fitness and health education

         23  makes sense. These lessons are two sides of the same

         24  coin. All the research tells us that students must

         25  be healthy and fit to be fully engaged in their

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  education.

          3                 Comprehensive health education covers

          4  a wide range of topics, including physical activity

          5  and nutrition, alcohol and other drugs, tobacco,

          6  family life, sexual health and violence and injury

          7  prevention.

          8                 While there is varying data on the

          9  impact these health issues have in different City

         10  neighborhoods. Every child needs age-appropriate

         11  information and strategies to ensure that they make

         12  healthy choices in their lives.

         13                 Comprehensive health education is

         14  part of an overall school health program. In New

         15  York City we support a sequence of health

         16  instruction from kindergarten through 12th grade.

         17                 Schools are encouraged to use health

         18  curriculum geared to the needs of students at each

         19  grade level.

         20                 In addition to factual knowledge,

         21  health education also includes teaching students how

         22  to make healthy life choices through personal

         23  decision-making.

         24                 We provide year-round professional

         25  development, to ensure that all teachers are aware
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          2  of the most current medical and education research.

          3                 Teachers help students to be safe,

          4  fit, and healthy, through lessons in advocacy,

          5  communication, decision-making, planning and goal

          6  setting. Also including relationship management,

          7  health management and stress management.

          8                 The New York State Education

          9  Department sets the learning standards for all

         10  teaching in all subjects. The publication, a

         11  guidance document for achieving the New York State

         12  standards in health education outlines the knowledge

         13  and the skills that students are expected to

         14  demonstrate at the elementary, intermediate and high

         15  school levels.

         16                 The Department then recommends

         17  curriculum for each grade level and provides

         18  additional learning materials, lesson plans and

         19  teacher training to ensure that lessons reflect the

         20  needs of our students and the diversity of our

         21  families.

         22                 While no curriculum or teaching style

         23  can meet the needs of every family, curriculum

         24  recommendations and development are grounded in

         25  rigorous learning standards with an awareness of
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          2  family sensitivity and some lessons, particularly in

          3  sex education.

          4                 Teachers must create a climate of

          5  trust in their classroom to ensure that all students

          6  feel comfortable discussing the full range of health

          7  topics, particularly lessons dealing with risky

          8  behavior areas, like alcohol, drug use or sex. To

          9  inform and support teachers and administrators, we

         10  provide free year-round trainings and curriculum

         11  materials for schools. In addition, my office

         12  provides direct technical assistance to individual

         13  schools to address areas of particular interest or

         14  concern.

         15                 In elementary schools health

         16  education is generally taught by the classroom

         17  teacher as part of the full range of academic

         18  subjects. Lessons are taught throughout the school

         19  year, and we encourage schools to use the

         20  HealthTeacher curriculum.

         21                 This program meets the requirements

         22  of the State and National Health Education

         23  Standards, and also the Center for Disease Control's

         24  Health topics.

         25                 This curriculum was first introduced
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          2  in the 2005-2006 school year, and the Department has

          3  purchased an on-line subscription for every

          4  elementary school in the City.

          5                 Also in 2005, the Department

          6  introduced an updated HIV/AIDS curriculum. New York

          7  City took the lead and developed its own HIV/AIDS

          8  curriculum for public school students in the 1990s,

          9  information about the course of HIV/AIDS, its

         10  treatment and its prevention has changed since the

         11  curriculum was first written.

         12                 The updated HIV/AIDS curriculum

         13  provides age and developmentally appropriate lessons

         14  to help children and adolescents understand the

         15  nature of HIV/AIDS, the methods of transmission and

         16  prevention, and ways to support friends or loved

         17  ones who may be living with HIV/AIDS.

         18                 The curriculum also includes new

         19  medical information to ensure scientific accuracy.

         20                 Lessons use strategy that reinforce

         21  the importance of communicating with parents,

         22  guardians, teachers, and other caring and

         23  appropriate adults in their lives, interactive

         24  activities foster communication, skills,

         25  assertiveness, planning and goal setting,
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          2  decision-making and limit setting.

          3                 Under state requirements principals

          4  are responsible for assuring the minimum of five

          5  HIV/AIDS lessons are taught every year in elementary

          6  school, and six in every middle and high school

          7  grade.

          8                 Kindergarten and early elementary

          9  grades cover the basics of disease prevention,

         10  covering your mouth when you sneeze or cough, and

         11  learning not to touch other people's blood and to

         12  ask adults for help when somebody is bleeding.

         13                 In grades four through six students

         14  learn more about HIV and its transmission, as well

         15  as how to cope in general with peer pressure and

         16  choosing companions to share your beliefs, values

         17  and interests.

         18                 In grades seven through 12,

         19  adolescents learn to avoid alcohol and other drugs

         20  which may impair their judgment and put them at

         21  increased risk for HIV/AIDS infection.

         22                 They are strongly encouraged to

         23  abstain from sexual intercourse. Some lessons also

         24  address methods of prevention, HIV testing, and

         25  explore how HIV/AIDS has affected our society.
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          2                 All schools have a copy of the

          3  updated curriculum, and we invite parents to review

          4  it and communicate any questions, comments or

          5  concerns to school staff.

          6                 As per New York State law, parents

          7  have the right to opt their children out of the

          8  individual lessons on methods of prevention by

          9  sending a letter to their child's principal. We

         10  believe that these lessons are age appropriate and

         11  protective.

         12                 Comprehensive health education in

         13  secondary schools not only requires more detailed

         14  instruction, but also increasing sensitivity on how

         15  to lead adolescents in these lessons.

         16                 In middle and high schools, there is

         17  a health education teacher's license. Principals

         18  have the option to hire teachers with a health

         19  education license, or assign classes to teachers

         20  otherwise qualified to teach these classes.

         21                 Health lessons are delivered in

         22  separate classes. To receive a high school diploma

         23  in New York State, students must take a minimum of

         24  one semester of health education during their

         25  four-year high school years.
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          2                 The New York State Department of

          3  Education also requires one semester of health

          4  education in middle school. During the 2006/2007

          5  school year, the Department assembled 36

          6  stakeholders to review more than 30 health education

          7  curriculum to determine which one provided the best

          8  framework for middle and high school comprehensive

          9  adult education.

         10                 The reviewers included school

         11  administrators, teachers, parents and

         12  representatives from the Central Department of

         13  Education, the New York City Department of Health

         14  and Mental Hygiene, and community-based

         15  organizations involved in health education.

         16                 The committee matched curriculum to

         17  the New York State education standards. Their goal

         18  was to identify the most scientifically accurate

         19  student centered curriculum reflective of New York

         20  City's diversity. Beginning with the 2007/2008

         21  school year, the HealthSmart curriculum is

         22  recommended for all secondary schools.

         23                 This curriculum provides all the

         24  materials appropriate for middle schools. For high

         25  schools adding the Reducing the Risk curriculum,
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          2  allows schools to meet the State learning standards

          3  for sex education.

          4                 Research on Reducing the Risk

          5  indicates that it is effective in delaying the

          6  initiation of sexual intercourse, increasing the use

          7  of contraception among teens who did initiate sexual

          8  intercourse, and increasing parent/child

          9  communication about abstinence and contraception.

         10                 In addition to providing these

         11  comprehensive health curriculum and training free to

         12  all schools, we are also developing other materials

         13  and resources that schools can use to enrich

         14  instruction and reflect student diversity.

         15                 We are pleased to share that nearly

         16  100 high school teachers participated in the kickoff

         17  HealthSmart and Reducing The Risk workshop on

         18  Election Day.

         19                 And we have the capacity to provide

         20  professional development for every middle and high

         21  school health teacher this school year.

         22                 Attached to this testimony is the

         23  schedule of the remaining secondary professional

         24  development opportunity, including comprehensive

         25  health education and HIV/AIDS workshops.
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          2                 I also want to stress that the

          3  Department continues our long-standing policy of

          4  offering free condoms to high school students in

          5  school health resource rooms. There trained

          6  professionals show students how to use condoms

          7  correctly. Parents who do not want their children to

          8  have access to condoms can opt out.

          9                 Parents and schools share a common

         10  goal. We want students of all ages to be healthy in

         11  all aspects of their lives. When it comes to talking

         12  to teenagers about sex, our common goal is to delay

         13  the initiation of sexual intercourse. But when an

         14  adolescent becomes sexually active, she or he must

         15  know how to stay healthy. Comprehensive health

         16  education provides the latest medically correct

         17  information. Family conversations can place that

         18  information into the context of family values.

         19                 This shared goal of keeping students

         20  healthy is a partnership that extends beyond

         21  schools. My office has productive partnerships with

         22  many organizations, including the Department of

         23  Health and Mental Hygiene, the Center for Disease

         24  Control, the New York Academy of Medicine, Planned

         25  Parenthood NYC, and the Lesbian Gay Bisexual
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          2  Transgender Center.

          3                 Today I want to highlight two

          4  partnerships that target health instruction and

          5  student services. Last year City Council funded a

          6  peer leadership program for high school students as

          7  part of the Department's effort to teach students

          8  about HIV/AIDS and how they can keep themselves

          9  healthy.

         10                 Research tells us important

         11  foundations for comprehensive health education is

         12  strengthening student communication skills. Students

         13  must learn and practice strategies for saying no to

         14  sex. Or if they choose to engage in sex, they need

         15  to be able to tell their partner that using a condom

         16  is a safe choice.

         17                 The peer leadership program started

         18  with high school students receiving training and how

         19  they could be leaders in their schools and

         20  neighborhoods, to promote healthy behaviors.

         21                 This year-long effort then culminated

         22  in a Citywide event where teenagers shared their

         23  ideas and strategies in a number of venues, and

         24  celebrated their efforts by reaching nearly 3,000 of

         25  their high school peers.

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2                 On another critical health fund, we

          3  are now working closely with the three Department of

          4  Health and Mental Hygiene District Public Health

          5  Offices in East and Central Harlem, Central Brooklyn

          6  and the South Bronx.

          7                 The DPA chose to focus on

          8  high-poverty neighborhoods, higher rates of asthma,

          9  cancer, HIV/AIDS, diabetes, heart disease and

         10  obesity.

         11                 The DOE, DOHMH collaboration targets

         12  schools in these neighborhoods in ways in which we

         13  can work together to teach students and provide

         14  badly needed health services.

         15                 This new partnership seeks to develop

         16  innovative programs for students targeted for their

         17  specific needs.

         18                 Again, schools cannot control all of

         19  the factors influencing health in homes and

         20  neighborhoods, but we can provide teaching and

         21  programs to generate a real impact on student health

         22  and lives.

         23                 The Department of Education will

         24  continue to evaluate, update, and improve the

         25  quality of health, teaching and learning for all
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          2  students.

          3                 We welcome partners, old and new, to

          4  take this effort to the next level.

          5                 For example, right now with the

          6  ongoing encouragement with the Bronx Borough

          7  President's Office, we are conducting an evaluation

          8  of the sex education curriculum in ten Bronx

          9  secondary schools, that's four middle and six high

         10  schools. And this is in conjunction with the South

         11  Bronx District Public Health Office and the Bureau

         12  of Maternal Infant and Reproductive Health.

         13                 Schools have been selected based upon

         14  the interest of principals to be part of the pilot

         15  often because of concerns regarding student sexual

         16  activity at their schools.

         17                 Students in these schools will

         18  receive the sex education lessons in the spring of

         19  2008. We want to further evaluate the sex education

         20  professional development and teaching strategies to

         21  assure that we implement this curriculum in the most

         22  effective and sensitive manner as it is expanded to

         23  secondary schools throughout the City.

         24                 Thomas Jefferson made an interesting

         25  comment in the 1790 letter to his cousin: "Health is
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          2  worth more than learning." While in 2007 we

          3  understand what he meant, I want to offer an

          4  expanded thought.

          5                 Without learning how to live and stay

          6  healthy, our children may not have the opportunity

          7  to use all of their learning. We can, and will, make

          8  our comprehensive health education instruction a

          9  model for the nation.

         10                 Thank you for listening, and I am

         11  happy to take any questions you may have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Benson, let

         13  me thank you, as the Director of Health and Fitness

         14  Education, for coming in and giving prepared

         15  testimony, which you've read into the record. But

         16  first I'd like to ask you a question which I

         17  mentioned in my opening statement.

         18                 Counsel has requested copies of the

         19  curriculum, the old and the new, and have not

         20  received it as of today. Why is that, when in fact

         21  the old curriculum and new curriculum is already in

         22  place? Why didn't we receive it?

         23                 MS. BENSON: I'm not particularly sure

         24  of the reason why you may not have received the

         25  curriculum yet. But I am more than happy to assure

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  that you will receive it before the end of the week.

          3                 The old curriculum is available on

          4  line. It is available at Healthteacher.com, and

          5  available for all of our schools to access.

          6                 We began our first initial training

          7  on Election Day, and we began with some high school

          8  teachers. There are a couple of modules of the

          9  curriculum --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sorry, Ms.

         11  Benson. Before you go any further, your response

         12  that we'll have it by the end of the week is not

         13  acceptable. It's not acceptable for you to hand in

         14  your homework late. And in fact, some teachers say

         15  if you hand it in too late, you get a grade off your

         16  mark; isn't that correct?

         17                 MS. BENSON: I'll be happy to get it

         18  to you by the end of the week.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You should have

         20  had it to us. There is no excuse for not giving it

         21  to us in advance. And that annoys me, and annoys

         22  everyone on this Committee. Because, in fact, what

         23  we cannot do in preparation for this hearing is to

         24  analyze the information to tell what the difference

         25  is between the old and the new. So, I'm going to ask
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          2  you, not even go into my questions, because you

          3  didn't submit it, I'm sure that you know the

          4  difference between the old and the new, can you go

          5  through the old curriculum and the new curriculum

          6  and tell me what the differences are?

          7                 MS. BENSON: Sure. I can give you some

          8  of the highlights of the changes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Please, if you

         10  don't mind. I'm really annoyed at the fact that DOE

         11  is procrastinating and failing to submit

         12  information. And if, in fact, we don't have it by a

         13  certain time, I'm going to request counsel to

         14  subpoena it. Now, I know that you don't want us to

         15  have to do that, but if in fact we have to do that,

         16  we will do it.

         17                 And, so, you tell your boss and the

         18  government relations here, and I'll say it publicly,

         19  it's a shame that the Chancellor has not submitted

         20  the information for us to evaluate in order to make

         21  decisions as to what type of questions we need to

         22  ask. And to say to us that the old curriculum is on

         23  line and you can go on line, it's not acceptable,

         24  because I don't have a computer.

         25                 I do have a computer, but I say that
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          2  because many parents don't have a computer, and what

          3  we hear on a continuous basis, "it's on line." Well,

          4  everyone is not there yet. And not only that, but we

          5  should be able to have it on line and copies in our

          6  hand.

          7                 So, if you don't mind, let me calm

          8  down a little bit, you are the target because you're

          9  the Director, and you are representing the

         10  Department of Education right now. And if they

         11  didn't tell you that we wanted it, then you need to

         12  get on them, and you need to be just as emotional

         13  and upset with those individuals that did not

         14  request it from you, because they put you on the

         15  spot. And you shouldn't be in that hot seat right

         16  now basically being reprimanded, and that's what you

         17  are, you are being reprimanded for not having the

         18  information.

         19                 So, Ms. Benson, can you please

         20  highlight the difference between the old and the

         21  new.

         22                 MS. BENSON: Sure.

         23                 The previous curriculum that was

         24  selected in 2005 was called Health Teacher, and the

         25  curriculum was web-based. It was felt by many folks
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          2  within the system and throughout other stakeholders

          3  that are interested in health education and

          4  concerned about health education that it may not

          5  have met the rigor, the diversity, the reflection of

          6  New York City neighborhoods.

          7                 The original choice to select Health

          8  Teacher a few years ago was to actually have a

          9  systemic K through 12 program, because prior to

         10  that, there had not been a systemic K through 12

         11  health curriculum since really the early eighties.

         12  And, so, that was the first approach. Part of that

         13  approach was to also have something that was

         14  palatable, that was easy for teachers to digest that

         15  was accessible, that being web-based and on line,

         16  and what we realized, that it was appropriate for

         17  the elementary school level, because most folks who

         18  are teaching elementary health education are

         19  classroom based, and so it was very palatable for

         20  the classroom teacher to be able to integrate

         21  lessons in an interdisciplinary way, to be able to

         22  access the information and not be overloaded with

         23  too many materials.

         24                 When it came to the secondary level,

         25  there were concerns about the rigor of the sexual
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          2  health and sex education component. In addition, the

          3  reflection of the diversity of not just the diverse

          4  neighborhoods and ethnic make-up of our City, but of

          5  not addressing sexual stereotyping, not addressing

          6  other elements of comprehensive health education

          7  that needed to be there.

          8                 That's why a group was convened

          9  throughout the majority of last school year, a

         10  rigorous evaluation was done to align with the State

         11  standards to choose HealthSmart.

         12                 Now, what we tried to do was we tried

         13  to find an off-the-shelf curriculum that met certain

         14  criteria. We wanted to find an off-the-shelf

         15  curriculum that was comprehensive so that it did

         16  include sex education. That it was easy for teachers

         17  to use that had different components and modules

         18  that reflected the wide array of topics, that it

         19  reflected an urban diverse population, that it

         20  addressed sexual stereotyping, that it was

         21  comprehensive, and we did try to look for a

         22  curriculum that was research-based.

         23                 There is not one perfect fit out

         24  there that we found, and HealthSmart was the best

         25  that the group agreed upon based upon their

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  comments.

          3                 When it came to high school, we felt

          4  and we knew that there was research-based curriculum

          5  out there, and so reducing the risk is an evidence

          6  based -- excuse me just a moment. Reducing the risk

          7  is an evidence-based research curriculum, has shown

          8  some pretty major things like delaying the

          9  initiation of sexual intercourse, or having students

         10  utilize contraception and engaging, having students

         11  engage their parents in having more communication

         12  about abstinence and prevention.

         13                 And, so, that's why we chose to

         14  compliment the HealthSmart modules, which reflect

         15  everything from alcohol, tobacco, other drugs,

         16  emotional and mental health nutrition and physical

         17  activity, improving healthy behaviors, all of that

         18  and supplement the sex-ed component with reducing

         19  the risk.

         20                 So, if there is an effective

         21  research-based curriculum out there, that's what we

         22  should be using. And that really are the major

         23  components that led into the choice of this new

         24  curricula.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And in your
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          2  testimony on page six, is that the assembled 36

          3  stakeholders? Is that the group that came up with

          4  the recommendations that both the HealthSmart and

          5  Reducing the Risk, that's what they agreed upon?

          6                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you please

          8  forward us a list of the 36 stakeholders and their

          9  affiliations? Is that information on line also? I'm

         10  not being sarcastic, I'm being serious. Is that on

         11  line also?

         12                 MS. BENSON: That information is not

         13  on line, but we're happy to forward it to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And over what

         15  period of time did they meet to review and to

         16  analyze and to research, and I know that they have

         17  staff members in order to come up with this. Was

         18  that over a two-month period, over a six-month

         19  period? And how many times did they meet

         20  approximately, in order to make the recommendations

         21  to the Chancellor and others that those two

         22  curriculums were the best to go forward with?

         23                 MS. BENSON: Actually, the process

         24  covered the majority of the 2006/2007 school year.

         25  Almost the full school year. It engaged consultants
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          2  from the State Education Department to help create

          3  the framework and the rubric of how the evaluation

          4  should be looked at to align completely to the State

          5  Standards. All the stakeholders that were involved

          6  received a few days on professional development just

          7  to know how to look at the curriculum, what criteria

          8  we're looking at, you know, the various cemetrics

          9  that were being used. There were checks in place, so

         10  there were various subgroups that met at different

         11  times, there were different components, different

         12  stakeholders reviewed the different areas of

         13  comprehensive health education, so that there were

         14  different groups that let's say looked at the sex ed

         15  component, that looked at the alcohol and tobacco

         16  component, and then all of that information was put

         17  together.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me go to,

         19  and I think I answered this in your testimony, but I

         20  just need to be clear, is the new Office of Fitness

         21  and Health Education replacing the Office of Fitness

         22  and Physical Education and the Office of Health

         23  Education and Family Living, or would those two

         24  offices exist within the new office?

         25                 MS. BENSON: It was a merger of the
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          2  two offices. So, this new office embodies physical

          3  education and health education in one office.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, there

          5  is no longer an office of fitness and physical

          6  education and no longer an office of health

          7  education and family living?

          8                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: There is only

         10  one office of fitness and health education; is that

         11  correct?

         12                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 According to your press release

         15  announcing these changes, the HealthSmart curriculum

         16  is only being used for the middle and high school

         17  grades, even though the curriculum has components

         18  for all grades K through 12; why aren't you using

         19  HealthSmart in Grades K to 5?

         20                 MS. BENSON: Well, one of the main

         21  reasons we wanted to continue with HealthTeacher is

         22  because it is an easily available resource on-line,

         23  it is accessible for classroom teachers, and we felt

         24  that that was important to continue that approach so

         25  that classroom teachers would be able to incorporate
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          2  the lessons into what they're already teaching, and

          3  have a user-friendly way of doing so.

          4                 In the middle and high school grades

          5  there is a specific and separate teacher, there is a

          6  specific separate course on health education and

          7  that's why we chose to ramp up the health education

          8  curriculum by selecting HealthSmart and reducing the

          9  risk.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what did you

         11  call that Committee of 36 individuals? Was it a

         12  Committee or a Commission or what?

         13                 MS. BENSON: It was a review panel.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         15                 MS. BENSON: And it was, basically the

         16  charge was to really review secondary health

         17  education. Elementary review was not part of the

         18  process.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, that

         20  review panel did not make the recommendations that

         21  you continue with the curriculum that you were using

         22  instead of going to the component of the HealthSmart

         23  curriculum; is that correct?

         24                 MS. BENSON: The Committee was charged

         25  with reviewing and analyzing second health ed
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          2  curriculum.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So,

          4  concerning the current curriculum in grades K to 5,

          5  what's the name of that again?

          6                 MS. BENSON: It's called Health

          7  Teacher.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Health Teacher,

          9  okay. But do you plan to do so in the future, as far

         10  as using HealthSmart, since it has a comprehensive

         11  component, components for K to 12? Or do you plan on

         12  continuing to use separate curriculums all together?

         13                 MS. BENSON: I think we're going to

         14  continue to review and evaluate and monitor what our

         15  schools are doing, what they're choosing, how

         16  they're implementing it, and we'll continue to

         17  update and make recommendations as we proceed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, in reading

         19  for preparation today, there was an article that

         20  Joel Rivera had shown me and I read also, I'm sure

         21  that you have seen it also, and the AM New York,

         22  where it talked about that the curriculum concerning

         23  I think sex education is not mandated, but let me

         24  just go to the question. Are all of the health

         25  curriculums, health education, including the sex
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          2  education curriculum, is it mandatory for all

          3  schools? In elementary schools and then obviously in

          4  secondary schools, intermediate and high schools, is

          5  a health education curriculum, including that's

          6  mandated by the State Education Department on

          7  HIV/AIDS, and including the curriculum that is

          8  taught by DOE concerning, what's the name of it, At

          9  Risk?

         10                 MS. BENSON: Reducing the Risk.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Reducing the

         12  Risk; is that mandated in all schools?

         13                 MS. BENSON: Okay, so let me talk

         14  separately about the HIV curriculum and then health

         15  education curriculum.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, why don't

         17  you start from the lower grade and going up? How's

         18  that?

         19                 MS. BENSON: Sounds good.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 MS. BENSON: So, when it comes to the

         22  HIV/AIDS lessons, they are mandated. It's mandated

         23  from the New York State Education Department, and

         24  there are mandated lessons grades K through 12.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.
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          2                 MS. BENSON: There are five lessons at

          3  the elementary school level.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          5                 MS. BENSON: And six lessons at the

          6  middle and high school levels.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          8                 MS. BENSON: And what's different

          9  about the HIV/AIDS lessons versus comprehensive

         10  health education, is that it is required every

         11  school year.

         12                 They're moving onto comprehensive

         13  health education, New York State Education

         14  Department mandates that health education is

         15  incorporated into classroom learning at the

         16  elementary school level, and that at the secondary

         17  level there is a minimum of one semester at the

         18  middle school level and one semester at the high

         19  school level. So, for example, a high school student

         20  will take one semester of health education, but they

         21  will receive the age-appropriate HIV/AIDS lessons in

         22  ninth grade, tenth grade, 11th grade and 12th grade.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As mandated by

         24  the State.

         25                 MS. BENSON: Correct.
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          2                 The additional requirements, when it

          3  comes to graduation in high school, participating in

          4  one semester, health education is in fact a

          5  graduation requirement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Requirement.

          7                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, do you know

          9  if that requirement is being met in the ninth grade,

         10  the tenth grade, 11th grade or are high schools

         11  waiting til the last year to have that mandatory one

         12  semester health education training?

         13                 MS. BENSON: There is a variety of how

         14  schools choose to implement the health education

         15  course.

         16                 There are schools that teach it in

         17  the ninth grade and there are schools that teach it

         18  later on in 11th or 12th grade.

         19                 It's something that previous

         20  administrations had not looked at and it's a metric

         21  that we are now looking at. And we are encouraging

         22  schools to teach health education in the ninth or

         23  tenth grade.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You mean the

         25  mandatory one semester?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You are

          4  encouraging them to do that?

          5                 MS. BENSON: We are encouraging to

          6  teach it in the ninth grade or the tenth grade, as

          7  opposed to teaching it the 11th and the 12th grade.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How are you

          9  encouraging them to do that?

         10                 Have you sent out a memo to the

         11  principals encouraging them to do that?

         12                 Have you, you, as the Director,

         13  communicated that at a conference of all of the

         14  principals? What method of communication have you

         15  used?

         16                 MS. BENSON: There is a variety of

         17  levels of communication. One of the things that

         18  we've begun to do this year that we did not have

         19  before in previous years is ongoing professional

         20  development. And when I say that, I'm not just

         21  talking about direct professional development for

         22  teachers.

         23                 One of the institutes that we started

         24  is the High School Assistant Principal Health and

         25  Physical Education Institute. Actually, tomorrow is
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          2  our next session at the New York Academy of

          3  Medicine. We have articulated to all of the

          4  Assistant Principals of Health and Physical

          5  Education that support this at the high school

          6  level, how important it is that this course be

          7  taught in ninth or tenth grade, as early as

          8  possible, among other elements.

          9                 In our Frequently Asked Questions

         10  document on our website, we have this information up

         11  there as well. We take every opportunity to talk to

         12  all of our stakeholders throughout the system about

         13  the importance of this.

         14                 You know, this is an area that hasn't

         15  been looked at for a very, very long time. There

         16  hasn't been a lot of attention, and it's something

         17  that we are bringing to the forefront, and something

         18  that we're going to look at and begin to track and

         19  see how our progress is being made.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In the

         21  intermediate schools, you said that one semester is

         22  required also?

         23                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And intermediate

         25  school begins at what grade?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Sixth grade.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, sixth,

          4  seventh and eighth is considered intermediate

          5  school; is that correct?

          6                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And will you

          8  encourage them to give that one semester at what

          9  grade level, if any?

         10                 Now, you talked about the high

         11  school, and you said you're encouraging principals

         12  to make sure students receive that in their grade,

         13  and what about in intermediate schools?

         14                 MS. BENSON: The same philosophy holds

         15  true for intermediate schools. We want the health

         16  education course to be as early on as possible, so

         17  we are encouraging sixth or seventh grade.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 If you have any correspondence, any

         20  memos to the principals encouraging them to do that,

         21  I ask you to please provide us a copy of it. I'd

         22  like to see that, because one of the things is

         23  communicating, and obviously you're communicating

         24  now, which is good with respects to what you are

         25  encouraging principals to do. And another thing is
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          2  that, if, in fact, they're actually doing it.

          3                 Do you know for a fact how many

          4  schools are teaching it at what level? Is there a

          5  certification process so that statistically your

          6  office would say that, you know, in ninth and tenth

          7  grade, you know, we had this many students and

          8  classes taught; do you keep statistics on that?

          9                 MS. BENSON: In the past historically

         10  there weren't any statistics kept on that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         12                 MS. BENSON: Last year was the first

         13  year that statistics were kept on principals

         14  assuring HIV/AIDS compliance.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So,

         16  they're certifying to that effect?

         17                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 MS. BENSON: And we are looking

         20  towards and working with metrics so that this

         21  information will factor into school compliance

         22  reviews, which is an overall part of the

         23  accountability process.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 And do you have any numbers as to
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          2  certifications, as to whether or not the HIV/AIDS

          3  curriculum was taught at the high school level, at

          4  the intermediate school level, at the elementary

          5  school level, since you started to keep statistics

          6  last year, do you have stats on that?

          7                 MS. BENSON: I do have those stats,

          8  and I'll be happy to get back to you with those.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MS. BENSON: I just don't have them

         11  off the top of my head.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. If you can

         13  provide counsel with the information as to last

         14  school year certification and any certification to

         15  either last year or this year with respects to the

         16  mandated one semester in intermediate school and

         17  high school, we would appreciate that.

         18                 And let me ask you a question. Do

         19  you, in the process -- who goes in to verify, one,

         20  that it's being done; is that the State Education

         21  Department or the Department of Education?

         22                 And number two, whether or not the

         23  curricula, the details are being taught as per the

         24  mandate by the State Education Department? Who goes

         25  in to check that?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Well, it's my

          3  understanding that State Education Department is not

          4  necessarily in the business of compliance and

          5  oversight, since there is one person who oversees

          6  health education at the State Education Department.

          7                 It is my understanding that if a

          8  parent or a teacher, or a concerned member of a

          9  school wrote to the State Education Department, that

         10  they would then follow-up. It's not part of what

         11  they do on a regular basis.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What about at

         13  DOE?

         14                 MS. BENSON: Getting to that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 MS. BENSON: One of the best parts of

         17  the merger of the Office of Fitness and Health

         18  Education, with the Office of Health Education and

         19  Family Living, is that we've now increased the

         20  capacity to support schools. So, prior to this

         21  school year, there were four people for the entire

         22  City to support health education.

         23                 Most of the staff who supports

         24  physical education also has experience in health

         25  education.
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          2                 So, now every staff member in my

          3  office has responsibility to work with a distinct

          4  number of schools, and not necessarily within a

          5  particular district or school support organization,

          6  but by school need.

          7                 So, for example, we have some point

          8  people that are only working with large schools,

          9  because the problems that large high schools face

         10  are very different than other schools.

         11                 We have other point people that are

         12  working with campus school situations where there's

         13  a lot of shared staff. We have folks that are

         14  working just specifically with elementary schools,

         15  and middle schools in similar facility situations.

         16  So, it's a combination of looking at what is going

         17  on, but also it's us providing that outreach,

         18  providing that technical assistance, so that

         19  principals have the support for scheduling, they

         20  have their support for sharing staff, they have the

         21  support for actually knowing what is available to

         22  them. And, so that it's a matter of, yes, providing

         23  that oversight, but I think our role is much more of

         24  support than of just oversight.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, in essence,
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          2  are your staff, besides doing whatever they're

          3  doing, is anyone verifying that the curriculum is

          4  being implemented at the school level at all?

          5                 MS. BENSON: So, as I said before, in

          6  terms of the metrics, the measurement for

          7  evaluation, that's something that we're working on,

          8  and we hope to have that in place around January.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MS. BENSON: And then have the

         11  complete information by the end of the school year

         12  about curriculum implementation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 So, for example, this Committee has

         15  oversight, and the Health Committee, if we wanted to

         16  go into a school and verify whether or not it's

         17  being taught in the classroom to actually see it

         18  being implemented, can we do that?

         19                 MS. BENSON: Well, if you would like

         20  to observe a classroom lesson, or if you would want

         21  to come to professional development, we'd be more

         22  than happy to work with you on that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As far as the

         24  health curriculum in grades K to 5, is there only

         25  one or are there more than one health curriculums
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          2  being taught currently in our schools K to 5?

          3                 MS. BENSON: Our schools have the

          4  choice to use the curriculum they feel is best for

          5  their students, and there is only one curriculum

          6  that we are purchasing for schools.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry. Wait

          8  a minute, you mean a school can do what they want?

          9                 MS. BENSON: The schools need to

         10  provide curriculum based upon the New York State

         11  learning standards, and what we have done is

         12  formulated the best practices, the best approaches

         13  and the best ease of implementation at various

         14  levels.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 Health Teacher. And you said that DOE

         17  is continuing with Health Teacher and not going with

         18  the comprehensive component of HealthSmart.

         19                 MS. BENSON: Correct. And just to add

         20  to that, all of the comprehensive components, to the

         21  areas of alcohol and emotional health and --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are incorporated

         23  in both?

         24                 MS. BENSON: It's all incorporated in

         25  how teachers --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MS. BENSON: Well, it's just a

          4  different approach.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you know how

          6  many schools are using right now Health Teacher? And

          7  what other curriculum is being used?

          8                 MS. BENSON: Mm-hmm.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have

         10  that? What percentage of elementary schools, in K to

         11  five, are using Health Teacher; do you have any idea

         12  right now?

         13                 MS. BENSON: So, as I mentioned before

         14  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         16                 MS. BENSON: -- There are many metrics

         17  regarding health education that have never been

         18  tracked. And this is one of those metrics that we

         19  are beginning to track.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 MS. BENSON: So, we are working with

         22  schools, we are asking schools, and in addition to

         23  the accountability metrics, we are also formulating

         24  our own database that we are fully aware of the

         25  curriculum that schools are stating that they're
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          2  using.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you're

          4  working on it?

          5                 MS. BENSON: We're working on it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well,

          7  because --

          8                 MS. BENSON: And we're happy to share

          9  the information with you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, it seems

         11  to me it can be pretty simple, you know, by sending

         12  an e-mail to every principal of the school, and

         13  obviously if you're sending it to a high school, an

         14  elementary school, an intermediate school is not

         15  germane to that particular school, and if you send

         16  it to an elementary school it means, you know.

         17                 Tell us what health education

         18  curriculum you are using in your school, and how

         19  long have you been using it? And is it being

         20  implemented in every grade?

         21                 MS. BENSON: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's not too

         23  complicated to ask. And it's not too complicated to

         24  analyze to give you that information.

         25                 So, for example, Ms. Benson, if we
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          2  have a hearing, a follow-up hearing six months from

          3  now, and the statistical information as to what

          4  health curriculums are being taught in every school,

          5  and so you should have a menu that 50 percent of our

          6  schools they're using Health Teacher in K to five,

          7  25 percent is using this, and here are the schools,

          8  you should have that information by that within the

          9  next six months?

         10                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm going to

         12  hold you to that. I'm telling you. Because, quite

         13  frankly, in order to know what's out there, and in

         14  order to know who is doing it, you have to be able

         15  to ask the questions. And I hear you're saying that

         16  we're in the process of doing that.

         17                 MS. BENSON: Mm-hmm.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, six months

         19  from now, please don't come back and say that we

         20  don't have the information yet. Not with a $17

         21  billion budget, and not with a computerized error

         22  (sic) system that cost $80 million. There is no

         23  reason why you shouldn't have it.

         24                 Are there -- I know Health Teacher is

         25  probably the primary one in K to five, you would
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          2  agree with that; is that correct?

          3                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is there anyone

          5  other than Health Teacher that you can identify

          6  right now that, to your knowledge, is being used in

          7  K to five?

          8                 MS. BENSON: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But there

         10  may be; is that correct?

         11                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. All right.

         13                 And what about at the intermediate

         14  school level. At the intermediate school level, is

         15  it HealthSmart, or is it some other as primarily

         16  being used, if you have any knowledge of that?

         17                 MS. BENSON: At the intermediate

         18  level, we are first introducing HealthSmart.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Because

         20  that was introduced in October; is that correct,

         21  overall?

         22                 MS. BENSON: The announcement was made

         23  in October.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 MS. BENSON: And as teachers come to
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          2  professional development, they will receive the

          3  curriculum.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And receiving

          5  the curriculum, meaning that they should at least

          6  teach it this year, hopefully, by the end of June?

          7                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's correct.

          9                 MS. BENSON: Mm-hmm.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 And as far as the HIV/AIDS

         12  curriculum, mandated by the State Education

         13  Department, that is one curriculum and not three or

         14  four different curriculums; is that correct? That

         15  they can choose from?

         16                 MS. BENSON: That's correct. There is

         17  one New York City HIV/AIDS curriculum.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 And, so, every school, whether or not

         20  it's elementary school, intermediate school or high

         21  school, should be teaching that age-appropriate

         22  grade-appropriate; is that correct?

         23                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you're going

         25  to have statistical information, in essence,
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          2  certification, from the principal that is being

          3  taught at every grade appropriate?

          4                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So in six months

          6  from now when I say 100 percent participation, the

          7  response should be yes?

          8                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because as you

         10  indicated, that the certification of making sure

         11  that mandated curriculum is being taught will be

         12  part of an evaluation process of the principal; is

         13  that correct?

         14                 MS. BENSON: That's what we're looking

         15  to do, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         17                 And at the high school level, to your

         18  knowledge, other than HIV/AIDS curriculum, what

         19  health curriculum is currently being used in any of

         20  the schools?

         21                 MS. BENSON: I would probably feel

         22  most comfortable coming back to you with that

         23  information, after we have the full scope of the

         24  data in front of us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because of the
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          2  HealthSmart, like you said, is being implemented

          3  now, and teachers are being trained in order to

          4  implement that.

          5                 What did they have last year, though?

          6  Let's talk about last year. Because opening up when

          7  I got a little heated and was reprimanding you as a

          8  representative of the Department of Education, there

          9  was an old curriculum and a new, and you gave some

         10  of the differences between the old and the new, and

         11  I appreciate that. But what was the old curriculum?

         12  What was the name of that curriculum?

         13                 MS. BENSON: So, many schools were

         14  using Health Teacher, as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: At the high

         16  school level?

         17                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, go ahead.

         19                 MS. BENSON: We had originally

         20  purchased the on-line subscription K through 12 for

         21  all schools. And this year we made the decision to

         22  only purchase it for elementary schools.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 And, so, if for example someone at

         25  the school wanted to continue that, they would have
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          2  to purchase it themselves?

          3                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          5                 And this HealthSmart that was

          6  introduced, my understanding, and correct me if I'm

          7  wrong, if I'm a principal of the high school, if I

          8  don't want to use it, even though DOE has made the

          9  announcement that this is what they're purchasing, I

         10  don't have to use it?

         11                 MS. BENSON: One of the most

         12  interesting things about health and physical

         13  education, and this goes back for years and years,

         14  there hasn't been a lot of capacity at the local

         15  level to support implementation of the curriculum.

         16                 What we found, and I could only, you

         17  know, use the examples with physical education, when

         18  we've made recommendation and we've provided the

         19  supports and provided the materials, it was very,

         20  very little pushback, it was great relief that there

         21  were supports in moving in the right direction.

         22                 So, yes, schools can choose the

         23  curriculum that they would like to use that meet the

         24  New York State standards for health education,

         25  however, what we found in past experiences, that
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          2  most schools will embrace the support, embrace the

          3  materials and the resources and will probably follow

          4  in that direction.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          6                 Now, do you know -- now, you're in

          7  charge of this new Office of Fitness and Health

          8  Education and you were the Director of, it's my

          9  understanding, of the Office of Fitness and

         10  Education prior to this umbrella office being put

         11  into place; is that correct?

         12                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 So, there's an assumption that I have

         15  that, no matter whether there is intermediate school

         16  or high school, based on your staff development

         17  that's going on now, that all of the grades will be

         18  implementing the first year of whatever curriculum

         19  they choose, that all of the children in school will

         20  have that by the end of the school year, which I

         21  believe is June 28th; is that correct?

         22                 MS. BENSON: The goal for professional

         23  development is to provide the teachers with

         24  resources, so that they can incorporate these

         25  elements into their teaching.
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          2                 There may be many teachers that come

          3  to professional development that may not be teaching

          4  health education this semester, but they may be

          5  teaching it the following semester.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes.

          7                 MS. BENSON: So, it's going to vary in

          8  terms of implementation, but that is definitely

          9  something that we will track to see if schools were

         10  using something else, are they now going to switch

         11  over to HealthSmart and reducing the risk.

         12                 You know, we need to be able to look

         13  at where we are and continue to follow where we're

         14  going.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And the only

         16  requirement at the intermediate and high school

         17  level is before they graduate from either

         18  intermediate or high schools, that they have one

         19  semester; is that correct?

         20                 MS. BENSON: That's the State

         21  requirement, correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, currently --

         23  I mean, last year. Last year were there any schools

         24  that did not teach anything at all, to the best of

         25  your knowledge?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: I can't speak for last

          3  year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who was in

          5  charge of that last year?

          6                 MS. BENSON: The former Director of

          7  the Office of Health Education and Family Living was

          8  Betty Rothbart (phonetic).

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that

         10  individual still around?

         11                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, wouldn't it

         13  be appropriate for you to know whether or not

         14  schools last year didn't teach it at all?

         15                 MS. BENSON: You know, when you think

         16  of --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I know that you

         18  want to move forward, from a positive point of view,

         19  and I compliment you on that, but it's also good to

         20  know whether or not there were schools that didn't

         21  teach it at all. Because if, in fact, they did not

         22  teach it at all, and she was responsible for the

         23  Office, then I raise questions on whether or not,

         24  you know, the oversight for her office, or

         25  principals making sure that, you know, it was
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          2  supposed to be taught, things are falling down.

          3                 MS. BENSON: As I mentioned before,

          4  the former office had four staff members.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ah-ha.

          6                 MS. BENSON: And the capacity for

          7  oversight and support was limited. And, so, one of

          8  the major steps forward is really pulling together

          9  the resources that we have in health and physical

         10  education, so that we can get a better grasp of what

         11  is actually happening in schools, and know how we

         12  can support schools in a better way moving forward.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Benson, I

         14  hear your plea. I hear you saying, you know, that

         15  was before. Now we have the combined office, now we

         16  have more staff individuals and they are focusing in

         17  on their areas of expertise, for example high

         18  schools and so forth and so on, and I can appreciate

         19  that. But quite frankly, Ms. Benson, the Department

         20  of Education, Mayor Bloomberg has been in charge of

         21  the schools since 2002, it's over five years, and

         22  for you to say there was not enough staff, basically

         23  that's what I'm hearing, it's not an acceptable

         24  answer for me, as the Chair of the Education

         25  Committee. And it's not an acceptable answer for
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          2  parents. Not when we've had, we've had budgets,

          3  surplus record budgets. Surplus. So, you know, even

          4  though that's your response, I understand.

          5                 Let me go on, I'm sorry. My

          6  colleagues are getting impatient, the fact that I'm

          7  taking so much time, but quite frankly, I need to

          8  know a comprehensive response on whether or not, you

          9  know, things are being done or not. And quite

         10  frankly, I don't know.

         11                 I hear your plea that we're going to

         12  have statistics in six months, but quite frankly, I

         13  don't know and I need to know. So, let me move on.

         14                 Which one is it? This one? Okay.

         15                 They tell me the last question. And I

         16  know you're probably pleased about that because I

         17  can go on and on and on.

         18                 What is the cost of implementing the

         19  new HealthSmart curriculum?

         20                 MS. BENSON: The cost was, I'm trying

         21  to think off the top of my head, we've purchased 500

         22  sets of curricula at the middle school and the high

         23  school level. Given the fact that there may be

         24  multiple teachers teaching in each school. I'll have

         25  to get back to you with the specific dollar amount.
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          2  I don't want to misquote.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have an

          4  approximate figure? I mean, you know, we teach

          5  children how to make educated guesses in school,

          6  eliminate the two and take your best choice. Give me

          7  a guess. You should know.

          8                 MS. BENSON: Yes. I mean, it's

          9  approximately $250 per teacher.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Per set of

         11  material?

         12                 MS. BENSON: Per set of materials.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you

         14  purchased 500 of those?

         15                 MS. BENSON: Correct. Five-hundred

         16  middle school and 500 high school.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So about 1,000.

         18                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Times 250. How

         20  much is that? Who is the mathematician here?

         21                 MS. BENSON: It's about 250,000.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what about,

         23  how does that differ, Ms. Benson, with respect to

         24  the cost to implement the Health Teacher?

         25                 MS. BENSON: The Health Teacher is $75
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          2  per subscription for the web-based program?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And how many

          4  subscriptions?

          5                 MS. BENSON: We purchased for every

          6  elementary school, so...

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And how many

          8  elementary school?

          9                 MS. BENSON: More than 700.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, it's 700

         11  times 250?

         12                 MS. BENSON: Seventy-five.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Seventy-five.

         14                 MS. BENSON: Right. We've continued to

         15  purchase that this school year, as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         17                 And that budget comes out of central

         18  or individual school budgets?

         19                 MS. BENSON: No, that has come out of

         20  central.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. And even

         22  as far as the health teacher and the HealthSmart,

         23  all of that is central?

         24                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And currently
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          2  going forward out of central also? Or out of

          3  school-based budget?

          4                 MS. BENSON: Currently going forward

          5  as schools need replenishment it would be central.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Okay.

          7                 Do you know, and this is the last

          8  question on this and I'll turn to my colleagues, do

          9  you know how many schools have already purchased or

         10  opted for the HealthSmart curricula as of now?

         11                 MS. BENSON: If the school has chosen

         12  to purchase the curriculum prior to our roll-out,

         13  I'm not aware of it. But we've provided curriculum

         14  to nearly 100 high school teachers in November. So,

         15  we are not asking the schools to purchase the

         16  curriculum, we are providing it for them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I assume

         18  you keep the statistics on the computer, how many

         19  schools have accepted it and what have you and so

         20  forth, right? Okay. Thank you very much.

         21                 My colleague Joel Rivera of the

         22  Bronx.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 My line of questioning will be very
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          2  short, since my colleague did a phenomenal job in

          3  asking you, you know, a lot of tough questions.

          4                 My first question really is, has the

          5  Department of Education modified in any way, shape

          6  or form the HealthSmart Program from the publishers

          7  original program?

          8                 And if so, will that change the

          9  effectiveness of the program itself?

         10                 MS. BENSON: The HealthSmart

         11  curriculum has seven different modules, and as I

         12  said, at the high school level we are not using the

         13  full sex ed component of HealthSmart, so that we can

         14  supplement it, rather, with reducing the risk.

         15                 So, for example, in the one volume

         16  that speaks of abstinence and sexual health, some of

         17  those lessons are already in reducing the risk.

         18                 There is another volume about HIV and

         19  pregnancy prevention, and most of those lessons are

         20  already in reducing the risk.

         21                 What we are doing is creating a

         22  custom condensed volume with the support of the

         23  publisher from those two volumes at the high school

         24  level.

         25                 At the middle school level, we are
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          2  also doing that same thing, we are customizing the

          3  HIV and pregnancy prevention module so that, number

          4  one, it doesn't overlap with the HIV/AIDS lessons,

          5  also giving sort of confusion in terms of what's

          6  mandated, and what isn't. And also, there is one

          7  lesson in the middle school about a condom

          8  demonstration in the HealthSmart curriculum that we

          9  are omitting from the custom binder.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. And how

         11  will the Department of Education evaluate the

         12  effectiveness of the new revised curriculum?

         13                 MS. BENSON: One of the great things

         14  about our partnership with the Department of Health

         15  and Mental Hygiene, and with the Bronx District

         16  Public Health Office and the Bureau of Maternal

         17  Infant Reproductive Health, is that we are doing a

         18  rigorous evaluation of the professional development,

         19  and the integrity of implementation of just the sex

         20  ed components of HealthSmart and reducing the risk

         21  this school year in ten middle and high schools in

         22  the Bronx, and we will use that to further our

         23  perhaps revisions, or modifications for professional

         24  development moving forward so that we can really

         25  ensure effective implementation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.

          3                 In your testimony you made reference

          4  to the fact that principals have the capability of

          5  hiring a certified health education teacher or not

          6  to hire a certified health education teacher. Do we

          7  know any of these certified health education

          8  teachers we have in the system currently? And also

          9  do we at least have one in every single school,

         10  middle school and high school?

         11                 MS. BENSON: We have nearly 200

         12  certified health education professionals. Two-thirds

         13  of those teachers are at the high school level, and

         14  a third of those teachers are at the middle school

         15  level.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Does that cover

         17  every middle school and high school?

         18                 MS. BENSON: It does not cover every

         19  middle school and high school.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Is it on the

         21  agenda to possibly mandate from the Department of

         22  Education that every school hire a certified health

         23  education teacher, since I mean I know you have the

         24  one-day training seminars, but obviously if you're

         25  certified in a specific field, opposed to a one-day
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          2  training, you know, that may make a world of a

          3  difference in terms of the quality of teaching the

          4  kids would receive.

          5                 So, is it on the agenda to mandate at

          6  least one certified health education teacher in

          7  every single middle school and high school to help

          8  teach the curriculum?

          9                 MS. BENSON: When it comes to

         10  certified health education teachers, we are part of

         11  a larger process when it comes to the folks coming

         12  out of higher education programs, and what we've

         13  seen from the 1970s, when before there was a health

         14  and physical education major together in teacher

         15  education programs, that split, just as the

         16  Department of Education used to have a health and

         17  physical education license in the seventies and then

         18  it split, there were fewer and fewer people going

         19  into health education, many more into physical

         20  education, and we know that there has been a

         21  shortage of folks coming out of teacher education

         22  programs. We are now in the position to articulate

         23  with the colleges and universities locally and

         24  throughout the State so that we can attract more

         25  student teachers and bolster up. So, it's a little
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          2  bit of supply and demand, and so it's something that

          3  is important to us, that we have qualified teachers

          4  teaching in all subject areas, and it's part of the

          5  process that we're looking into.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, I was just

          7  going to mention that, have we teamed up with CUNY

          8  and, you know, the other universities, because there

          9  are other programs, like the nurses programs and

         10  others, that we have teamed up with in the past to

         11  make sure we have the quality staff that you

         12  mentioned.

         13                 Isn't it required by State law,

         14  though, that we have a health, a certified health

         15  education teacher in each school?

         16                 MS. BENSON: It is required by State

         17  law, and this has been something for years and years

         18  and years, there have been folks other than a health

         19  education teacher that have been teaching health

         20  education.

         21                 Generally it has been rotated around,

         22  and it's something that we are talking about, that

         23  we are working with school administrators about so

         24  that we can help them structure their schedules, so

         25  that we can have effective health education.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, at this

          3  point in time I want to open it up to my colleagues.

          4  We've been joined by Councilwoman Melinda Katz,

          5  Councilwoman Helen Sears was here, as well as

          6  Council Member John Liu. I know Council Member Peter

          7  Vallone has a couple of questions for you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 Let me first commend you for your

         11  awards that you mentioned for yourself and for the

         12  school system. I think Chancellor Klein knows I'm a

         13  big fan of what he's done and what you've all done.

         14  As a parent of two girls in school, I have a bigger

         15  perspective on that.

         16                 But when you guys come down here,

         17  it's our chance to disagree on some of the few

         18  things we disagree on. So, vast majority of which I

         19  agree on, but this is my job.

         20                 As the author of the Transfat Bill, I

         21  want to ask you about the obesity epidemic.

         22                 The City Council has long been

         23  concerned, not just with what happens inside the

         24  schools but after schools. Whether we're talking

         25  about cell phones to and from schools, or safety on
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          2  school buses, it's very important to us.

          3                 Now, you can teach nutrition all you

          4  want in school, and you can talk about the

          5  importance of physical education in school all you

          6  want, but if students are chained to their desks at

          7  home doing four to five hours of homework every

          8  night, then New York City schools deserve part of

          9  the blame for the obesity epidemic.

         10                 Now, I am not adverse to homework,

         11  but I can assure you that everybody in this

         12  Chambers, none of us, none of us ever had more than

         13  two hours of homework until we got to high school.

         14  That is abuse of our children, to do little children

         15  do four to five hours of homework a night.

         16                 You know, when my daughter gets two

         17  hours, we have a party. It's the first time we can

         18  actually watch a TV show together. I can't take them

         19  for a bike ride. I try to take my kids for a bike

         20  ride, which would fight the obesity epidemic, I

         21  can't because they have hours of homework and

         22  they're too nervous that they've misjudged the

         23  homework they have and they're going to be up until

         24  10:00 at night trying to do homework.

         25                 I know that the DOE is taking every
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          2  available path to fight or to increase test scores,

          3  and most of those I applaud, but you've now taken

          4  away a child's chance to be a child, to go outside

          5  and play, to have fun, and to be healthy in doing

          6  that.

          7                 You can't substitute recess for going

          8  outside and playing. Now, I'm a member of the

          9  Education Committee, but I'm speaking for all

         10  parents now, and when I say you have to give less

         11  homework, I know that's not your job, but you are

         12  the director of fitness. Now, as Director of

         13  Fitness, what are you going to do to accomplish what

         14  I've said, to have less homework done? What are you

         15  going to do to implement what Thomas Jefferson said,

         16  as you quoted, to make health more important than

         17  education? What is on your agenda?

         18                 MS. BENSON: Well, as Director of

         19  Fitness and Health Education, I don't know if that's

         20  within my purview in terms of overseeing how

         21  teachers and how subject areas to teachers provide

         22  homework. It's within my purview to try to increase

         23  the amount of physical activity during the school

         24  day to help impart lifelong habits that students can

         25  hopefully take with them beyond the school day and
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          2  to really see, as you said, every available

          3  opportunity to increase the level of physical

          4  activity to be part of the partners within the

          5  obesity issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I have to

          7  disagree.

          8                 You're telling kids how important

          9  exercise is is completely useless if they have to

         10  come home and do homework all night and they can't

         11  go out and do exercise. It is part of your job to go

         12  back and advocate to Joel Klein, advocate to whoever

         13  you need to advocate, that our children are dying of

         14  diseases like diabetes and need to go home and

         15  exercise and go out and have fun and be kids. They

         16  need to do that. You need to tell Joel Klein that,

         17  because that's your position. You don't need to

         18  disagree with him in public. I'm not saying you need

         19  to sit here and make a speech about it. But as part

         20  of your job, you need to go and advocate for that.

         21  I'm asking you to do that. And I'm going to do it

         22  myself with the Chancellor, and I've asked the Chair

         23  of the Education Committee to have a hearing on this

         24  topic and I'm going to continue to reiterate that.

         25  He may have stepped out.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Oh, there he

          4  is. Good.

          5                 In fact, I'll be introducing a

          6  resolution very soon calling on the Board of

          7  Education to come up with a policy, the Department

          8  of Education to come up with a policy to limit the

          9  amount of homework, and to, in fact, maybe implement

         10  something like a homework-free night, which exists

         11  elsewhere in the United States, and perhaps we can

         12  have a hearing on that soon, once it's introduced,

         13  because this is a very, very important topic to

         14  parents. It's something they discuss everywhere, we

         15  discuss everywhere we gather, the fact that we can't

         16  do anything with our children. We can't them to the

         17  zoo, to a museum, because they're doing homework all

         18  the time. I don't mind a couple of hours of homework

         19  a night. I don't mind it more than that in high

         20  school, but little kids need to be kids.

         21                 That being said, I know my colleagues

         22  have been sitting here for a long time waiting for a

         23  long time, so I'll move on, but, again, I think you

         24  guys are doing an excellent job. When you come here,

         25  we disagree a little bit, but I'm a big fan, and my
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          2  kids are doing excellent in school, and I commend

          3  you on what you've done.

          4                 MS. BENSON: Thank you. And I'm happy

          5  to share your concerns and bring it back to the

          6  Chancellor.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Council Member, if you thought

         10  Council Member Jackson was tough, now you've got to

         11  deal with Council Member Felder. You're next.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         13  much. I was looking through your testimony and there

         14  was, one of the items that was really mentioned very

         15  lightly was the issue of emotional and mental

         16  health. And I didn't understand exactly what you do

         17  about that. I mean, what do you do about educating

         18  children in that area?

         19                 MS. BENSON: Well, there are

         20  components of comprehensive health education that do

         21  speak to emotional and mental health, elements that

         22  involve stress management, that involve

         23  self-management, that involve healthy behaviors and

         24  healthy relationships. So, there are elements, we

         25  didn't really get into each of the areas deeply
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          2  here, but that is part of the comprehensive

          3  curriculum in health education.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, that's

          5  the point.

          6                 You know, I'm not a trained

          7  psychologist by any means, but most of the issues,

          8  you know, most of the problem issues with children,

          9  certainly with my own children, you know stem from

         10  issues regarding mental health and emotional mental

         11  health. Some would say it has to do with the fact

         12  that I'm their father, but there are other issues,

         13  believe it or not. And a lot of the problems that

         14  you discuss and highlight really stem from issues of

         15  self-esteem and so on and so forth.

         16                 So, the category of emotional and

         17  mental health being one of the categories, I don't

         18  mind that there's a category, but I don't, I still

         19  don't understand the emphasis, because things like a

         20  guidance counselor, do you know how many guidance

         21  counselors there are in schools today?

         22                 MS. BENSON: I don't know the number.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Would anybody

         24  who is with you today know how many guidance

         25  counselors an average school has? I was going to
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          2  say, is that on-line?

          3                 MS. BENSON: No, it's not on line.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

          5                 I can tell you that most schools have

          6  very few guidance counselors. Some have one, two,

          7  very few, and that's clearly those are the people

          8  that are trying to address, you know, besides the

          9  nurses that are there, trying to address the

         10  problems that children have, that ultimately lead to

         11  the things that you're talking about, you know,

         12  trying to address later on, problems that occur.

         13                 Since you're going to advocate to the

         14  Chancellor about so many other things that were

         15  raised, I would just say that if the issues of

         16  trying to improve the health of kids in the schools,

         17  emotional and mental health are critical, and I

         18  believe they are, then if it's not going to be done

         19  through your direction, which maybe it is not your

         20  responsibility, then certainly the issues of

         21  guidance counselors in the school system that used

         22  to be able to help children and be able to have the

         23  time to spend, you know, with children who are

         24  having trouble that ultimately leads to us spending

         25  millions of dollars trying to correct deeper
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          2  problems later on would be warranted. This is not a

          3  trick question. This is a question where you say

          4  I'll take it back, and, you know, this is not

          5  complicated.

          6                 MS. BENSON: No, I'm happy to take it

          7  back, but I would also like to add that as you

          8  alluded to, our work is a piece of the bigger

          9  picture, and, so, while we focus more on the

         10  educational component in classrooms during the

         11  school day, there are other offices within the

         12  Department of Education and within our joint

         13  collaboration with the Department of Health and

         14  Mental Hygiene that specifically address these

         15  areas, and that is their forte. So, we work jointly

         16  with the mental health specialists, with health

         17  services specialists as we are education

         18  specialists, and with that said, I'm happy to take

         19  your larger concern back with me.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can you help

         21  my children?

         22                 MS. BENSON: I would absolutely love

         23  to.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I thought you

         25  said you will take that back to the Chancellor.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much, Council Member.

          5                 I just have one follow-up question,

          6  and then we'll be done.

          7                 Since you don't have a certified

          8  health teacher for every middle school and high

          9  school, who will teach the HealthSmart and Reducing

         10  the Risk in school where you don't have the health,

         11  certified health education teachers? And how will

         12  these teachers be trained to implement the

         13  curriculum?

         14                 MS. BENSON: That's one of the metrics

         15  that we're also looking at right now so we can be

         16  able to tell you specifically who is teaching. The

         17  majority of folks that are teaching health education

         18  that are not certified health teachers are physical

         19  education teachers and science teachers.

         20                 So all of these teachers are invited

         21  to the professional development opportunities that

         22  we have, and in addition we provide that ongoing

         23  technical, on-site support for that teacher, so that

         24  we can provide observations, linking them with a

         25  mentor certified health teacher, that there is
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          2  someone they can directly call, another peer, and

          3  try to encourage schools not to rotate the position

          4  around, but to at least in fact have a dedicated

          5  person continue to teach so they can build upon

          6  their capacity from year-to-year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You used the word

          8  "invited," what happens if a teacher doesn't take

          9  you up on the invitation? What happens then?

         10                 MS. BENSON: Well, many of the

         11  professional development opportunities are held

         12  during the school day. Or during professional

         13  development days. So, at the discretion of the

         14  principal, the principal is absolutely able to

         15  direct the teacher to attend the professional

         16  development sessions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: But who directs

         18  the principal?

         19                 MS. BENSON: We offer our support to

         20  principals, and as I said before, with some of our

         21  other questions, we found that when we've offered

         22  the support, there are very few schools that don't

         23  take us up on it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Would we be able

         25  to get an update on if there are principals that are
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          2  not mandating teachers to go take their training or

          3  principals are not taking us up on our invitation?

          4  Can we get an update on that at some point?

          5                 MS. BENSON: Well, as all the other

          6  metrics that we mentioned, we're going to keep track

          7  of who has been attending the professional

          8  development, who has begun to implement that, and of

          9  course, we can get back to you on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And I only ask

         11  because that would be important to determine the

         12  success of the program. Obviously, it is more

         13  successful when you have the full cooperation of the

         14  principal and the teachers taking part in the

         15  training program, as opposed to those who are not

         16  taking part in the program. Okay?

         17                 Being that there are no other

         18  questions, thank you very much for joining us, and

         19  we will move on to the next panel.

         20                 For this portion, since we do have a

         21  significant amount of people who have come to

         22  testify, we will be utilizing the clock. We will be

         23  allocating three minutes per individual who will be

         24  testifying.

         25                 The first panel will include Sabrina
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          2  Shulman, from Planned Parenthood of NYC, and Pat

          3  Maloney from the Inwood House Teen Choice.

          4                 And we've also been joined by Council

          5  Member Kendall Stewart, as well.

          6                 Ladies, you may begin to state your

          7  name for the record, and you may read your

          8  testimony.

          9                 MS. SHULMAN: Hi. Sabrina Shulman,

         10  Manager of Political Affairs from Planned Parenthood

         11  of New York City. I'm actually testifying on behalf

         12  of Dana Czuczka, who could not be here this morning,

         13  or this afternoon.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you please

         15  turn up her volume a little bit, please? Sabrina,

         16  pull the mic up a little closer, please.

         17                 MS. SHULMAN: I can sit a little

         18  closer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         20                 MS. SHULMAN: Thank you.

         21                 So, I just want to take the

         22  opportunity to, of course, thank the Committee

         23  chairs this afternoon for holding this hearing on

         24  the critical issue of sex education for New York

         25  City's youth. And to applaud New York City
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          2  Department of Education on the recent announcement

          3  regarding the creation of the new Office of Fitness

          4  and Health Education and the adoption of new Health

          5  Education curricula.

          6                 Planned Parenthood provides

          7  confidential services to the women, men and teens of

          8  New York City regardless of their ability to pay.

          9                 In 2006 at our three health centers,

         10  we provided reproductive health care and family

         11  planning services to more than 45,000 New Yorkers

         12  from all five boroughs.

         13                 And while many people only associate

         14  Planned Parenthood with our health services, we are

         15  also especially proud of our community-based

         16  prevention programming, which we conduct in

         17  under-served neighborhoods with high rates of teen

         18  pregnancy.

         19                 In 2006 alone we reached more than

         20  45,000 young people through our sexuality education

         21  programs.

         22                 We know from our experience working

         23  with young people, and as confirmed by a wealth of

         24  scientific research, much of which we've heard this

         25  morning already, is that when young people have
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          2  solid information and skills regarding sex and

          3  sexuality, they make healthier decisions about their

          4  bodies and relationships.

          5                 Although the rates of teen pregnancy

          6  have declined in New York City over the past several

          7  years, they have been unacceptably high, and they

          8  differ from group-to-group within New York City.

          9                 For example, in the Bronx in 2004,

         10  the rate of teen pregnancy was 128 per 1,000

         11  females, whereas in Staten Island it was about 62

         12  per 1,000. And not surprisingly, when it comes to

         13  rates of sexually transmitted infections and

         14  HIV/AIDS, the data are very similar.

         15                 And in addition to the higher rates

         16  of teen pregnancy and HIV and STDs, we know that

         17  there are increased instances of inter-partner

         18  violence in youth sexual and personal relationships,

         19  and relationship abuse among our teens is rampant.

         20  Sadly, the abuse is not even being identified or

         21  defined as such by young people.

         22                 Planned Parenthood believes in

         23  comprehensive sex education because there is

         24  considerable and scientific evidence that it's

         25  effective.
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          2                 Research shows that comprehensive sex

          3  education, meaning age appropriate, medically

          4  accurate, teaching about abstinence and

          5  contraception, helps young people postpone

          6  intercourse, reduced frequency of sexual

          7  intercourse, reduce the number of sexual partners

          8  and increase the use of condoms and birth control.

          9                 Parents and caregivers also support

         10  sex education in schools. In New York City the

         11  overall majority of voters, 84 percent support sex

         12  education.

         13                 We have in our written testimony six

         14  recommendations for moving forward with additional

         15  access to comprehensive sex education in schools,

         16  and we hope you'll have a chance to review those and

         17  let us know if we can provide additional

         18  information.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MS. MALONEY: Good afternoon. My name

         23  is Pat Maloney and I'm the Director of Inwood

         24  House's Teen Choice Program. Established in 1830,

         25  Inwood House provides a continuum of services to
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          2  help teens become healthy, self-reliant adults, from

          3  pregnancy and STI prevention to family support for

          4  pregnant and parenting teens.

          5                 In 1978, the Board of Education asked

          6  Inwood House to help stem the tide of escalating

          7  teen pregnancy rates at a time when City resources

          8  were dwindling. We created teen choice so unique

          9  small group counseling program model for

         10  comprehensive sexuality education, which is the

         11  centerpiece of our community outreach efforts and

         12  partnership with public schools.

         13                 Over the years we have served

         14  thousands of students and continue to do so today in

         15  nine middle and high schools throughout three

         16  boroughs.

         17                 We commend the Department of

         18  Education for creating an Office of Fitness and

         19  Health Education and recommending the use of two

         20  research-based curricula. This is a positive step

         21  forward, after unfortunately having taken many steps

         22  back.

         23                 Through the advent of AIDS, a sharp

         24  spike in teen pregnancy rates, which did not plateau

         25  until the early 1990s, and the increase of
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          2  abstinence-only programs, we lost considerable

          3  ground in protecting kids' health.

          4                 Ironically, when Teen Choice began,

          5  there was far greater acceptance and awareness of

          6  the need to provide comprehensive sexual health

          7  education in our schools.

          8                 The age-appropriate K-12 Family

          9  Living Including Sex Education Curriculum was

         10  mandated and implemented Citywide with the support

         11  of dedicated staff, resources and ongoing training

         12  from the Board's Health and Physical Education Unit.

         13                 FL/SE is no longer used, was never

         14  replaced, despite the ongoing need. Our teen

         15  pregnancy rates are still unacceptable, 30 percent

         16  higher here than the national average, and kids are

         17  still getting sexually transmitted infections,

         18  sometimes more than one at a time.

         19                 The lack of sex education makes our

         20  students vulnerable to these diseases, unintended

         21  pregnancy, physical coercion and unhealthy

         22  behaviors.

         23                 Yet, today we have fewer than 200

         24  licensed health teachers in some 1,200 middle and

         25  high schools, and a set of rigorous academic
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          2  standards that inexplicably exclude health. We know

          3  much more today about what works. Reducing the Risk

          4  and HealthSmart are tested and effective curricula,

          5  if delivered faithfully and consistently.

          6                 At this time we strongly urge DOE to

          7  adequately and regularly train and sensitize

          8  teachers to deliver these lessons within a holistic

          9  framework so that sexual health education is not

         10  stigmatized.

         11                 Given the severe, indeed shameful

         12  shortage of health teachers, instructors who impart

         13  this information to students must want to do so,

         14  being non-judgmental and fully trained.

         15                 Should I finish the recommendations

         16  or?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We can give you

         18  another 30 seconds. We just have a tremendous amount

         19  of people who also came to testify.

         20                 MS. MALONEY: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVER: Everything that is

         22  here will also be read into the testimony later on

         23  as well.

         24                 MS. MALONEY: Thank you.

         25                 We do want to ensure that HealthSmart
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          2  is presented in totality with all of its components,

          3  that these curricula are evaluated.  They have been

          4  elsewhere with predominantly white student

          5  populations, and we feel that funds should be made

          6  available to outside community-based organizations

          7  who can come in and assist with this laudable

          8  effort.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Just let me

         12  thank you both for coming in. I just have a

         13  question. You said over the years we have served

         14  thousands of students, continue today in nine middle

         15  schools and high schools throughout the three

         16  boroughs; do you have a listing of those schools in

         17  those boroughs?

         18                 MS. MALONEY: Yes, I do. Not with me,

         19  but I can get that to you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you please

         21  provide that to staff, if you don't mind?

         22                 MS. MALONEY: Absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 And this teen choice program, which

         25  is a comprehensive unique small group counseling
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          2  program model, that's the model that you're using in

          3  the schools now?

          4                 MS. MALONEY: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that what

          6  you're using?

          7                 MS. MALONEY: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And where did

          9  you get your primary funding to run this program?

         10                 MS. MALONEY: We have a mix of public

         11  and private funding, some State Health Department

         12  funding and then a lot of private foundation and --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you've done

         14  some analysis on how successful this is?

         15                 MS. MALONEY: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, you

         17  indicated that there should be outside sources that

         18  evaluate the various programs in school, I would

         19  assume that you have had outside consultants

         20  evaluate your program also; is that correct?

         21                 MS. MALONEY: That is correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you provide

         23  us with the analysis of your programs, if you don't

         24  mind?

         25                 MS. MALONEY: Absolutely.

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much, ladies.

          5                 MS. MALONEY: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we're going

          8  to have Davan Russell, VP Programs from WHEDCO;

          9  Nancy Biberman from the Women's Housing and Economic

         10  Development Corporation, WHEDCO; and Catherine

         11  Mercado. Oh, it's an entire list of names: Catherine

         12  Mercado, Yaniska Fias, Jennifer Jones, Katherine

         13  George, Ivette Hernandez, and Channel Joseph. These

         14  are students who have been advocates, it's my

         15  understanding, for quite some time. So, I want to

         16  thank them.

         17                 Will the students be testifying?

         18                 MS. BIBERMAN: Very briefly.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are they with

         20  you or you're separate and apart?

         21                 MS. BIBERMAN: We're together.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Good,

         23  okay.

         24                 MS. BIBERMAN: We will not take three

         25  minutes each.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Listen, one of

          3  the most important things is to hear from the

          4  students that are being impacted by the curriculum

          5  or the lack of curriculum. So, you know, come

          6  forward students and be a part of this.

          7                 How many students are going to speak,

          8  to testify?

          9                 MS. BIBERMAN: Four.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And I just want

         12  to personally thank the students for coming down to

         13  City Hall and to City government and making your

         14  voice heard is very important to all of us and I'm

         15  very proud as a young elected to see other young

         16  people getting involved in civic government.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MS. BIBERMAN: Thank you very much. We

         19  really deeply appreciate your holding these

         20  hearings. They were, students were here to listen to

         21  some of your questions, Chairman Jackson, and yours

         22  and I think they were very heartened.

         23                 We are a 15-year-old, WHEDCO is a

         24  15-year-old non-profit, helps women and their

         25  families in the South Bronx, and I'm here today to
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          2  speak and have them speak directly to you about a

          3  remarkable group of young women from our after

          4  school and teen program. They came together two

          5  years ago to demand that their school, PSMS 218, in

          6  the Bronx, offer and adopt a mandatory and

          7  comprehensive sex education curriculum, and they are

          8  here to tell you what happened when they took this

          9  cause on a couple of years ago, what the results

         10  were. They circulated a petition in April of 2006.

         11  They had over 200 signatories, parents, members of

         12  the community, asking that they be taught about

         13  sexuality and contraception, topics which were not

         14  taught in their school.

         15                 They went on to launch an educational

         16  website, Sex Ed 4 You, as in the number four, and

         17  it's still up, and attached to the testimony is a

         18  brochure that they produced probably a year and a

         19  half ago.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And also you

         21  have the article from the AM News Today.

         22                 MS. BIBERMAN: That's right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Which focus in

         24  on this group and what they've been doing to

         25  advocate to get an amended curriculum; is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MS. BIBERMAN: Yes, that's right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          5                 MS. BIBERMAN: And, so, we believe

          6  that if a group of girls from the Bronx can take on

          7  this issue with such dedication and commitment, that

          8  the Department of Ed can surely run an effective

          9  Citywide Sex Ed Program.

         10                 I'm not going to review facts about

         11  teen pregnancy that everybody else has already

         12  talked about today. You know that it's in my

         13  testimony, but we certainly know that teen pregnancy

         14  leads to increased school drop-out rates for girls,

         15  and in this City, which is struggling to keep kids

         16  in school, young people need to know the facts of

         17  life just as surely as they need to know their ABCs

         18  and comprehensive sex ed absolutely prevents teen

         19  parenting.

         20                 Can you imagine, as I sometimes do,

         21  the effect that a reduction in teen parenting would

         22  have on the drop-out rates in the Bronx, where at

         23  this point still over 50 percent of the kids don't

         24  graduate from high school?

         25                 I mean, that's an astonishing and
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          2  unacceptable number. What do I want to say? We

          3  definitely agree with the November 8th editorial in

          4  El Diaro which called for mandatory implementation

          5  of the New Department of Ed curriculum. Parents and

          6  teens are learning way too late the consequences of

          7  not having comprehensive sex ed in the schools.

          8                 The recommended DOE curriculum is a

          9  proven curriculum, and it has been shown to increase

         10  the use of birth control and condoms.

         11                 I want these girls to talk to you

         12  directly and not to take up any more of your time,

         13  but, you know, it's important to know that New York

         14  City lags behind 20 other cities in this country in

         15  this area. It's unacceptable for us to continue to

         16  do it.

         17                 So, I'd like to turn this over, if I

         18  may, to four girls who are here to speak to you.

         19  Catherine Mercado, Yanilsa Frias, Jennifer Jones,

         20  and Channel Joseph, and they'll introduce themselves

         21  when they speak.

         22                 MS. JONES: My name is Jennifer Jones.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Jennifer, pull

         24  up your mic a little bit closer. Identify yourself

         25  and what school do you attend?
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          2                 MS. JONES: I attend Manhattan Center

          3  in Harlem.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, go ahead.

          5                 MS. JONES: And our school should

          6  offer sex education because it is just as important

          7  as math and English. We need to know about our

          8  bodies so we can make informed choices.

          9                 In WHEDCO, the program Nancy was

         10  talking about, my teacher Nancy, we had sex

         11  education classes -- Nicole -- and I think the

         12  chance I had for that class, every other kid should

         13  have it, because because of that program I made

         14  better choices I think, and I will graduate from

         15  high school, and I have learned a lot of things, and

         16  the other kids should learn too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, great. And

         18  what grade are you in now?

         19                 MS. JONES: Ninth.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 Pull that mic down so we can hear

         22  you.

         23                 MS. FRIAS: Good afternoon. My name is

         24  Yanilsa Frias. I attend Aquinas High School. It's a

         25  private high school on 182nd Street in the Bronx.
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          2  I'm 14 years old.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 MS. FRIAS: I think sex education is

          5  not only a class but it's also a lesson that we will

          6  use in the future. What we learn now allows to make

          7  wiser choices.

          8                 The program started when I was in the

          9  seventh grade. We basically started, we had to make

         10  a project and we had different choices and we all

         11  agreed that we should have sex education in high

         12  school classes, because we will make wiser choices

         13  as ourselves. We learn more about ourselves and our

         14  friends.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         16                 Next. Pull that mic up close so we

         17  can hear you loud and clear.

         18                 MS. MERCADO: Hi. My name is Catherine

         19  Mercado. I go to Health Professions and Human

         20  Services. I am 14 years old.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what grade

         22  are you in, please?

         23                 MS. MERCADO: Ninth grade.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Is this

         25  your first year in high school?
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          2                 MS. MERCADO: Yes.

          3                 I think the lack of sex education is

          4  causing the high rate of teenage pregnancy. Having

          5  sex education will reduce the percentage.

          6                 I knew people who were pregnant, like

          7  15, and they were struggling with their babies

          8  because they weren't mature enough, and they didn't

          9  know how to take care of it.

         10                 So, I just wanted to tell all of the

         11  teenagers that they should like control themselves

         12  so they can prevent from having babies and not

         13  knowing what to do.

         14                 Thanks.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you.

         16  That's a good message - babies having babies. No, we

         17  don't need that. Thank you.

         18                 MS. JOSEPH: Hello. My name is Channel

         19  Joseph. I go to St. Jean Batiste High School. It's

         20  located in Manhattan.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where in

         22  Manhattan?

         23                 MS. JOSEPH: 77th Street.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What grade are

         25  you in?
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          2                 MS. JOSEPH: I'm in ninth grade.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 MS. JOSEPH: And I think that sex

          5  education saves lives because we learned about STIs,

          6  SDIs, and it prevents us from doing unwise choices.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know, let me

          9  just ask a question. I just read in the testimony, I

         10  know Sexually-Transmitted Diseases, STDs, you use

         11  the acronym STI, can somebody tell me what STI is?

         12  I'm asking the teachers or anyone.

         13                 MS. BIBERMAN: Sexually-Transmitted

         14  Infections.

         15                 MR. RUSSELL: Sexually-Transmitted

         16  Infections.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I guess the

         18  general terminology people use is STDs; isn't that

         19  correct?

         20                 MS. JOSEPH: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No? STIs?

         22                 MR. RUSSELL: STDs has changed to

         23  STIs.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So you

         25  learn something new everyday, right?
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          2                 MS. JOSEPH: Mm-hmm.

          3                 MR. RUSSELL: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, go ahead,

          5  please.

          6                 Who is next? Come on up to the mic.

          7  Sit down. Take a seat. Don't be afraid. We're not

          8  going to bite you. Introduce yourself.

          9                 MS. JENNINGS: My name is Nicole

         10  Jennings.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull that mic

         12  up, Nicole, please.

         13                 MS. JENNINGS: I am the after school

         14  teacher. I am the person who worked with these

         15  students in the after school program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         17                 MS. JENNINGS: We started out wanting

         18  to do an advocacy project, and the students talked a

         19  lot about how teen pregnancy is a really prevalent

         20  issue in their communities and in their families,

         21  and an issue with a lot of their friends.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes.

         23                 MS. JENNINGS: And it led into the

         24  project that we ended up doing for the next two

         25  years, which is basically a website, and we created
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          2  a MySpace blog where the kids could talk to other

          3  students and other friends of theirs about sex

          4  education and why it's important, and I'm glad to be

          5  here.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

          8  thank you all for coming in. It's important to hear

          9  from the young people that are affected by the

         10  curriculum that is taught or not taught in the

         11  classroom. And I'm glad to hear that your teacher in

         12  the after school program is here.

         13                 And how long have you been learning

         14  about sex education in WHEDCO? Any of the students?

         15                 Now, a lot of you in response to your

         16  introduction gave your name, your school, and

         17  several of you are in the ninth grade. Several of

         18  you are in the ninth grade. So, my question is,

         19  you're just now going into high school, how long

         20  have you been involved in this program at WHEDCO,

         21  and did it start at IS 218; is that where the WHEDCO

         22  program is run after school?

         23                 MS. MERCADO: Mm-hmm.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, how long?

         25  Many the students can answer that. How long have you
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          2  been involved with it? And do you meet every day,

          3  once a week, once a month, how many people are in

          4  the group? Are there boys in the group. Are there

          5  only girls in the group? Give me a little details

          6  about, you know.

          7                 MS. JOSEPH: We started off in the

          8  seventh grade, it was a step program. It helped us.

          9  We were going to take the specialized high school

         10  test, right?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         12                 MS. JOSEPH: And we wanted, after we

         13  finished practicing with the specialized high school

         14  test, we had to make a project. It was a few boys.

         15  It was like two, and they don't want to, they just

         16  dropped out.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They didn't want

         18  to talk about sex and sex education?

         19                 MS. JOSEPH: I guess not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, go ahead.

         21  So, how did you decide on the actual topic? I know

         22  you must have talked in general.

         23                 MS. JOSEPH: We had different choices.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 MS. JOSEPH: We had teen pregnancy,
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          2  how we can make the rate come lower, drop lower. And

          3  we chose sex education because we weren't getting

          4  any. We know some STIs and STDs, but we don't know

          5  what it really does to our body, so we wanted to

          6  learn about that, so that's why we chose sex

          7  education.

          8                 We used to meet from Monday through

          9  Thursday.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Every day?

         11                 MS. JOSEPH: When we were in PSMS 218,

         12  and now we meet like at least once a week.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Once a week?

         14                 MS. JOSEPH: Once a week. Since we're

         15  all in high school now, we have to --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And when you

         17  were in the seventh grade, so now you're in the

         18  ninth grade, so that's about two years. What did you

         19  do in the summertime? Did you meet at all in the

         20  summertime?

         21                 MS. JOSEPH: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And if you know,

         23  how many girls were involved in that program when it

         24  started in seventh grade? And now that you're going

         25  into high school, how many girls are involved with
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          2  it now? And anyone can answer. You don't have to

          3  answer but anyone can answer these questions.

          4                 MS. JONES: We started --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Identify

          6  yourself again.

          7                 MS. JONES: Jennifer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, Jennifer.

          9  Go ahead.

         10                 MS. JONES: We started with ten girls,

         11  and now that we went to high school, we lost

         12  communication with most of them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 MS. JONES: So, right now I think it's

         15  about eight or six of us that we communicate to. But

         16  I think that's still enough to prove our point.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And has this

         18  program continued to, like, for example, are there

         19  students now in the seventh grade that are in the

         20  after school program, and they're deciding on what

         21  aspect of any project they want to work on? And this

         22  is to Tracy, I believe?

         23                 MS. JENNINGS: Nicole.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Nicole.

         25                 MS. JENNINGS: I can answer that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Or any other

          3  students can answer. It doesn't have to be you.

          4                 MS. JENNINGS: Sure.

          5                 What the students are actually doing

          6  in after school is a service learning initiative.

          7  We've been doing this even before it was mandated,

          8  or before there was this program Teen Action. And,

          9  so, the sex education isn't being taught in the

         10  after school necessarily. What I encourage the

         11  students to do is, we are learning about our

         12  community, and we're learning about civic

         13  participation, and that's ultimately my goal. So, I

         14  don't choose the projects, the students do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         16                 MS. JENNINGS: So, I'm merely a

         17  facilitator of the students. So, there is no actual

         18  sex education currently.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But

         20  leadership skills.

         21                 MS. JENNINGS: Exactly.

         22                 The students chose this project and

         23  we learned a lot about it through that because they

         24  then wanted to go out and speak to people in their

         25  community and other students and people in their
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          2  family.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And did the

          4  students work on this brochure here? And if so, you

          5  know, was this handed out? Did you make 10,000, 500?

          6  What did you do with it? One of the students. C'mon

          7  young ladies, help me out here.

          8                 MS. MERCADO: I'm not sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Somebody help me

         10  out.

         11                 MS. MERCADO: How many brochures did

         12  we make?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Did you work on

         14  this yourselves, or did somebody do it for you?

         15                 MS. MERCADO: We did it ourselves.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You did it

         17  yourselves?

         18                 MS. MERCADO: Yes. We did a few copies

         19  and some people saw it. And they were really

         20  excited. They were like, oh, look, you have a

         21  brochure. I was like, I know, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And did you

         23  distribute the copies that you made and who did you

         24  distribute them to, if you did?

         25                 MS. MERCADO: We distributed it so the
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          2  principal in our school, the assistant principal,

          3  some of the teachers, they were really proud of us

          4  and we're proud of ourselves.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm proud of

          6  you, too. Sex Education Saves Lives, who came up

          7  with that title?

          8                 MS. MERCADO: Stephania. One of the

          9  girls in the group. She couldn't make it today, but

         10  she made it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And as far as

         12  funding of this after school program that you were

         13  involved with, Nicole, anyone; who funded this

         14  excellent program?

         15                 MS. BIBERMAN: Like the previous

         16  speaker from Inwood, we get funded some from DYCD,

         17  which we're very grateful for.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 MS. BIBERMAN: Also by private

         20  sources.

         21                 The point that I think the girls want

         22  to make, and we really want to underscore is that

         23  this really isn't happening in the schools. Not the

         24  mandatory HIV/AIDS curriculum, and sex ed, it's not

         25  happening.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, let me ask

          3  some tough questions, if you don't mind.

          4                 Concerning all of the girls that have

          5  been involved in this program, for about two years,

          6  has any of the young girls become pregnant?

          7                 MS. JOSEPH: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No.

          9                 And in your opinion, and I'm asking

         10  you, all of you students on this, you believe that

         11  all of the information, leadership skills,

         12  communication skills, the knowledge that you have

         13  gained as a result of this project, is helping you

         14  to, one, communicate better with yourselves, as an

         15  individual, because, you know, I talk to myself all

         16  the time. You know, and I respond to myself, too. In

         17  talking with your peers, both male and female. And

         18  talking to your parents or guardians or family

         19  members, and in essence, is this helping you to

         20  ensure your safety and well-being with regards to

         21  delaying sexual activity and/or helping you to

         22  prevent all of the diseases that, and infections

         23  that we talk about?

         24                 So, I would like to hear from some of

         25  the students, even though that you're in the ninth
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          2  grade. And I say that because before you answer,

          3  give you time to think, you know, myself, my wife

          4  and I, we have three girls, and they're 32, 27 and

          5  21, but they were all your age at one point in time,

          6  and communicating with them and hoping that they

          7  learn about delaying sexual activity, not only

          8  sexual intercourse, sexual activity, because some

          9  people say that, you know, oral sex is not

         10  intercourse, and all kind of stuff like that, so,

         11  sexual activity is extreme -- you know, I use the

         12  word because there is a lot of things concerning

         13  that, and not just sexual intercourse itself.

         14                 So, and I'm, you know, my girls, my

         15  girls did not have any teenage pregnancies, did not

         16  have any children, I'm not a grandfather as of yet.

         17  Hopefully I will be soon. My daughter is getting

         18  married the middle of next year and I'm hoping

         19  within a year or two to have some grandchildren.

         20                 But, so, now to get back to your

         21  answers, have you learned as a result of this what

         22  does it mean for you? What did this two years of

         23  learning and involvement in this program help you to

         24  do? If you can answer that, any of you, or all of

         25  you, I would appreciate it.
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          2                 MS. JOSEPH: The two years that we've

          3  had this program, we've learned a lot about

          4  ourselves, about each other. We're closer now, and

          5  we're comfortable with talking about, like sex and

          6  stuff we need to know, and with my peers in my

          7  school, I help them make wiser choices when they

          8  come to talk to me. I'm like a guidance counselor to

          9  them.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you're like a

         11  peer counselor, sort of like.

         12                 MS. JOSEPH: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you

         14  certified too?

         15                 MS. JOSEPH: And then with my mom. I'm

         16  comfortable with talking with my mother and my

         17  father and my brother, because they're behind me in

         18  all this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They're younger

         20  than you?

         21                 MS. JOSEPH: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But they're

         23  behind you? You mean you have more knowledge?

         24                 MS. JOSEPH: They're proud of me of

         25  doing this program and stuff. Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, they may be

          3  older, but you have more knowledge with respects to

          4  your involvement in this program?

          5                 MS. JOSEPH: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, good.

          7                 Anyone else? Go ahead. Identify

          8  yourself again.

          9                 MS. MERCADO: Catherine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, Catherine,

         11  go ahead.

         12                 MS. MERCADO: I learned that if I

         13  wanted to change something, and if I could put my

         14  mind into it and I could change something, like look

         15  where we've gone over here and look who we're

         16  talking with. So, this helped me. Wait. Hold on.

         17  What was I saying? Oh, yeah, so I adapted with this.

         18  I learned so many stuff. I grew more mature and I

         19  know how to control myself. Like with sexual things,

         20  I know how to control myself, and I know all this

         21  disease and all of that. So, now I know what's right

         22  and wrong.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, all of you,

         24  some of you are in the ninth grade, and you're now

         25  in a new environment, a new school. Are you now, for
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          2  example, as of what you learned in intermediate

          3  school involved in the leadership program yet? Even

          4  though this is like November and like three months

          5  into your new high school, are you involved in a

          6  leadership program or a peer intervention program or

          7  any other programs in your high school?

          8                 Because some of you, if not all of

          9  you, mentioned that you're in the ninth grade; is

         10  that correct? Everyone is in the ninth grade?

         11                 MS. MERCADO: Yes.

         12                 MS. FRIAS: Yes.

         13                 MS. JONES: Yes.

         14                 MS. JOSEPH: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you involved

         16  in any programs in your new high school?

         17                 MS. JOSEPH: No.

         18                 MS. MERCADO: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, not yet.

         20                 Not yet, okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Aquinas High

         22  School is not going to have anything. It's a

         23  Catholic high school, I believe.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, Joel, let

         25  me just, on behalf of myself and behalf of everyone
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          2  here, to have young high school students come in and

          3  talk about a successful program that you've been

          4  involved with for two years, and that this has

          5  taught you some leadership skills and negotiation

          6  skills to where, as you indicated, say some people

          7  come to you as a peer mentor. I know that makes you

          8  feel good. And so I'm proud of you, Joel Rivera and

          9  everyone up here are proud of all of you, and being

         10  involved with this, to help you navigate all of the

         11  ins and outs of peer pressure, sexual activity and

         12  all of the things that come with it. So, we're proud

         13  of you.

         14                 MS. MERCADO: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes, I just have

         16  a couple of follow-up questions.

         17                 Nancy, I just want to say that, you

         18  know, WHEDCO really is a trend setter and is setting

         19  the standard of what should be taken part of over

         20  the City of New York. And I just want to find out,

         21  how many young people do you have participating

         22  within the program itself?

         23                 MR. RUSSELL: To date, 70.

         24                 MS. BIBERMAN 7 0? 70 in the middle

         25  school program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And how many

          3  young men? Because I did hear that, unfortunately,

          4  we don't have that many young men participating in

          5  the program, and as we all know, it takes two to

          6  tango and we need to make sure that peer pressure is

          7  not an issue.

          8                 I remember when I was going to

          9  school, I didn't get the type of information we

         10  needed, in terms of sex ed, and the only education I

         11  got was a movie called Kids. I don't know if people

         12  are watching that documentary, but it's actually a

         13  documentary about how teens are having sex, getting

         14  HIV and AIDS, things of that nature. And it was

         15  actually pretty good. I don't know if it's still

         16  being distributed. It's a controversial documentary.

         17  But it's a pretty good one.

         18                 I just wanted to find out, how many

         19  young men do we have?

         20                 MS. BIBERMAN: I've been told 40.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Forty. So, that's

         22  a pretty good number. And how do we -- how can we

         23  engage more youngsters? I know you said you had the

         24  MySpace page, you have the website, you know, that's

         25  trying to get more kids involved in it. How do you
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          2  recruit youngsters to be part of this program?

          3                 MR. RUSSELL: I'm Divan Russell. I'm

          4  the Vice President of Programs for WHEDCO. One of

          5  the things that we run into, of course, is the

          6  capacity building issue, and how many young people

          7  can we support. This year we were fortunate enough

          8  to receive some money from DYCD to expand this

          9  middle school program to include more kids, and so

         10  the growth from, you know, 60 to 70 is significant

         11  for us, and I think we may even look to grow that to

         12  80. And the fact that 40 boys are involved, you

         13  know, makes it, of course, that much more

         14  interesting for us.

         15                 One of the things that we have found

         16  over the years in doing service learning, is that

         17  the girls are more apt to take on issues and really

         18  see them all the way through. And it's been the case

         19  for all of the initiatives that we have had over the

         20  years.

         21                 And this year, I know sex ed will be

         22  a part of it because the curriculum that we're using

         23  has sex ed as a component and we are hoping that,

         24  again, they choose to use that for a great

         25  percentage of what happens during the year, because,
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          2  again, it's up to them.

          3                 We introduced about eight topics,

          4  Nicole?

          5                 MS. JENNINGS: Yes.

          6                 MR. RUSSELL: About six topics get

          7  introduced to them, and they choose the one that

          8  they want to make this project. So, the hope is that

          9  this would be significant, and maybe not around

         10  advocacy, but certainly a core part of what they

         11  learn throughout the year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, what is the

         14  website again that you, the program put together,

         15  the young ladies? Somebody tell me the name of the

         16  website. Www.what?

         17                 MS. MERCADO: Www.sexed4u.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sexed4u.com?

         19                 MS. MERCADO:.com --

         20                 MR. RUSSELL: Dot google pages.

         21                 MS. MERCADO:.googlepages.com.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:.googlepages.com?

         23                 MS. MERCADO: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you repeat

         25  that again, please. Sex ed, the number 4u. --
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          2                 MS. MERCADO:. -- No, googlepages.com.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Googlepages.com.

          4                 MS. MERCADO: Mm-hmm.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And do you have

          6  a MySpace page also? Is it separate and apart or

          7  what? Because it said here in this article here in

          8  the AM News that besides a website, you have a

          9  MySpace page?

         10                 MS. MERCADO: Yes, it's a link.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It's a link?

         12                 MS. MERCADO: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where on that

         14  website you just gave me?

         15                 MS. MERCADO: Yes, sir.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. I'm going

         17  to check it out.

         18                 Is there an age limit that you can't

         19  go on MySpace?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We're going to

         21  see Robert Jackson with his MySpace account.

         22                 MS. JENNINGS: I just want to add that

         23  as the manager of this program for these 70 kids --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Speak into the

         25  mic, please.
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          2                 MS. JENNINGS: I just want to add that

          3  as the manager of the program for these 70 kids that

          4  overwhelmingly -- an overwhelming amount of students

          5  choose sexuality and sex education as a topic that

          6  they want to learn more about.

          7                 We introduced them to, like Divan

          8  said, a variety of topics, six main topics. School

          9  environment being one, peer pressure included in

         10  that. Cultural and ethnic diversity, sexuality and

         11  include within that the media, and by far all of my

         12  sixth graders this year, for example, want to take

         13  on another sexuality topic, and so I just wanted to

         14  add that it's a big one.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, good job.

         16                 I mean, obviously you're doing a

         17  great job here, and the young people are learning a

         18  lot about leadership and communication skills and

         19  how to negotiate all the ins and outs of being

         20  teenagers and the demands on boys and others for

         21  their sexuality and friendship and what have you.

         22                 Obviously this article in the

         23  newspaper gives you all of the heads up and gives

         24  you all of the kudos that you deserve for being

         25  involved in this program. So we're very proud of
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          2  you. Thank you very much.

          3                 MS. MERCADO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thanks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have Lee

          6  Che Leong, from the New York City Liberties Union;

          7  Miriam Yeung, from the Lesbian, Bisexual, Gay,

          8  Bisexual And Transgender Community Center; and

          9  Lyndel Urbano from the Gay Men's Health Crisis.

         10                 Thank you very much. Just state your

         11  name for the record, your affiliation, and you may

         12  begin.

         13                 MS. LEONG: Great. My name is Lee Che

         14  Leong. Good afternoon. I'm the Director of the Teen

         15  Health Initiative of New York Civil Liberties Union,

         16  and I want to thank both of you for providing us

         17  with the opportunity to talk about the Health

         18  Education Curriculum.

         19                 NYCLU is the New York State affiliate

         20  of the ACLU and has approximately 50,000 members in

         21  New York. The Department of Education's recent

         22  announcement of the reformation of the Office of

         23  School Health is one positive step, but very much

         24  remains to be done.

         25                 The lack for requirement for teaching
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          2  sex education throughout public schools, inadequate

          3  teacher training and poor oversight, mean far too

          4  many students still lack access to vital health

          5  information.

          6                 We all know the recent statistics, so

          7  I won't recount them. But I will say that while DOE

          8  updated it's HIV curriculum in 2005, you pointed out

          9  there is still no mechanism to ensure these lessons

         10  are actually being taught.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, in essence,

         12  that's the question that I was asking.

         13                 MS. LEONG: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How do you

         15  verify that it's actually being taught?

         16                 MS. LEONG: Yes. And we still don't

         17  have any good answers.

         18                 In fact, when you ask students in

         19  public school, like the ones that were here today,

         20  the overwhelming majority are surprised to learn

         21  that they're supposed to have sex lessons in middle

         22  school and high school.

         23                 The fact remains that while the

         24  information on the prevention on HIV and AIDS is

         25  better than nothing, comprehensive sex education
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          2  would be better yet.

          3                 Information on pregnancy prevention

          4  and other STIs is essential, but absent from the

          5  current curriculum.

          6                 DOE just testified that they don't

          7  know what is being taught, who is teaching it, and

          8  if it's actually being taught in schools at all.

          9                 In our work with schools around the

         10  City with young people with teachers and health care

         11  providers, we hear lots of stories from students who

         12  aren't receiving basic health information.

         13                 We've heard sexually active teens ask

         14  what penetration is. If emergency contraception is

         15  abortion. Whether douching with Coke prevents

         16  pregnancy. Clearly, there is a huge need for

         17  comprehensive sex education in New York.

         18                 While DOE's response represents a

         19  step in the right direction, so much more remains to

         20  be done. The NYCLU continues to stand with other

         21  advocates in recommending the following: Sex

         22  education needs to be taught every year. The

         23  Chancellor needs to issue a regulation requiring the

         24  teaching of age appropriate sex education every

         25  year, rather than leaving the inclusion to the
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          2  discretion of individual principals.

          3                 The former Family Living Including

          4  Sex Education Curriculum in use in the '80s was

          5  required every year and we can't afford to take

          6  steps back.

          7                 While the ten-school pilot in the

          8  Bronx is a good beginning, students outside of this

          9  very small population remain in jeopardy.

         10  Contraception and prevention have to be taught.

         11  Ninety-five percent of parents and junior high

         12  students believe that birth control and other

         13  methods of pregnancy prevention are appropriate

         14  topics.

         15                 We know many New York City middle

         16  school students are already sexually active. One in

         17  ten students report having sex before the age of 13.

         18                 To deny middle school students access

         19  to information to protect themselves is not only

         20  irresponsible from a public health perspective, it's

         21  also dangerous.

         22                 Furthermore, DOE should heed the

         23  advice of their own consultants and their own

         24  curriculum and include condom demonstrations as a

         25  part of comprehensive sex education.
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          2                 Comprehensive sex education would

          3  have condom demonstrations, because it's vital to

          4  the proper usage and should be included.

          5                 I'll just go through the other three

          6  recommendations we have.

          7                 Sexual orientation diversity must be

          8  acknowledged. Miriam Yeung will speak more to that.

          9  But in addition, sex education must have an

         10  implementation plan.

         11                 There was no implementation plan for

         12  the HIV curriculum for middle school or high school,

         13  and that's a clear lack.

         14                 Sex education must be taught by

         15  trained teachers, which both of you already

         16  acknowledged, but equally important, sex education

         17  requires a plan for evaluation. There has to be a

         18  purposeful and public plan for evaluation for the

         19  curriculum. The best program practices dictate that

         20  evaluation occur from the very beginning and should

         21  be both quantitative and qualitative.

         22                 If you have any questions at the end,

         23  I'd be happy to answer them.

         24                 MS. YEUNG: Good afternoon. Always

         25  hard to follow young people here. Very mean to put
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          2  me on this panel. But as a former youth worker, I

          3  applaud their work as well.

          4                 I am Miriam Yeung. I am the Director

          5  of Public Policy and Government Relations at the

          6  Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Community

          7  Center. Thank you, Chairperson Jackson and

          8  Chairperson Rivera, for holding this important

          9  oversight hearing. It could not come at a more

         10  important or critical time.

         11                 In August and September of this year,

         12  the New York City Department of Health and Mental

         13  Health issued startling reports about the state of

         14  teen health in New York City, with particular health

         15  disparities experienced by lesbian, gay, bisexual

         16  and transgender youths.

         17                 While rates of teen sexual activity

         18  and pregnancy in New York City, as you know, has

         19  remained comparable to national rates, they're still

         20  way too high.

         21                 Nearly half of the New York City

         22  youth who say they have had sex, only 69 percent use

         23  condoms, and 16 percent say they have been pregnant

         24  or have gotten someone pregnant.

         25                 Many people don't know this, but we
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          2  have over a decade of research that shows us that

          3  lesbian, gay, bisexual youth are more than twice as

          4  likely than their straight peers to report being

          5  pregnant or having gotten someone pregnant.

          6                 Additionally, the new HIV diagnosis

          7  rates are rising in New York City among young men

          8  who have sex with men. For MSMs aged 13 to 19, the

          9  HIV diagnosis rate has doubled in the past six

         10  years. Doubled. This is an unacceptable trend that

         11  must be stopped.

         12                 Commissioner Frieden himself has

         13  recognized this and in his press release remarked,

         14  quote:

         15                 "We are headed in the wrong

         16  direction. Unless young men reduce the number of

         17  partners they have and protect themselves and their

         18  partners by using condoms, more consistently we will

         19  face another wave of suffering and death from HIV

         20  and AIDS."

         21                 We at the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and

         22  Transgender Community Center are intimately aware of

         23  that wave and suffering and death from HIV/AIDS.

         24                 I speak today still with the whispers

         25  of those ghosts in my ears. The center being the
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          2  largest multi-service LGBT community center on the

          3  East Coast is open 365 days a year to help the tens

          4  and thousands of New Yorkers who need us.

          5                 Therefore, when I look at the DOH

          6  reports about young men today, I don't just see

          7  numbers. I see the faces of Tony and Angel and

          8  Adrian and Anton. Faces of just a few of the young

          9  men in our youth program who are living with HIV

         10  today, and under the age of 20.

         11                 Every day at the Youth Enrichment

         12  Services Program, we undo the harm of racism,

         13  homophobia, transphobia and ageism to build

         14  community knowledge and self-efficacy against

         15  violence, substance use and HIV.

         16                 We do this because we were there once

         17  already, and we don't want to go back. This is where

         18  we need help. All students, including New York City

         19  students have the human right to an education that

         20  shall be directed to the whole development of the

         21  human personality.

         22                 Today we're talking about information

         23  and education that saves lives and the

         24  responsibility of the government to provide the

         25  education.
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          2                 Therefore, the center, in short,

          3  supports the selection that the New York City

          4  Department of Ed has made for reducing the risk and

          5  HealthSmart as the comprehensive health curricula.

          6  But there is one large caveat, we expected to be

          7  taught as written.

          8                 As you may know, reducing the risk is

          9  an evaluative curriculum with the highest rate of

         10  effectiveness. My colleague Max Ciardullo from the

         11  Sexuality Education and Information Council of the

         12  US is an expert on curricula and is here today. I'm

         13  sure he's available to answer questions, if you have

         14  any.

         15                 However, it's been made known to us

         16  that the Department of Education has modified the

         17  curriculum that they've selected. We are concerned

         18  about these modifications because we have not been

         19  fully informed of them, as you haven't either. We

         20  have not received any copies of them, and we haven't

         21  had a chance to review them.

         22                 In particular, we are very concerned

         23  that lessons on condom use may have been redacted or

         24  modified so that demonstration of the use is no

         25  longer included. Reducing the risk is tested and
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          2  effective with the condom lesson included.

          3                 So, it would be a great shame for the

          4  Department of Ed to pick a winning curriculum, and

          5  then throw away all research fidelity. We know the

          6  curriculum works the way it's written. We can't

          7  count on it after it's been changed.

          8                 And then, of course, we also know

          9  that having effective, reliable and tested curricula

         10  is only one small part. Like Lee Che said, we need

         11  trained teachers, we need a mandate, we need to have

         12  this for every child, every year, in every school.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. URBANO: My name is Lyndel Urbano

         15  from Gay Men's Health Crisis. And I won't go over a

         16  lot of this stuff I have here, because I think it

         17  was already touched on. The main thing is that Gay

         18  Men's Health Crisis supports the new curriculum.

         19  However, we feel that it is a good curriculum and it

         20  should be implemented the way that it is, especially

         21  since when evaluated in the past, assessments took

         22  into account aspects such as condom demonstrations.

         23                 And we think that even the best

         24  curriculum is only as good as its implementation and

         25  it's essential that this curriculum be implemented
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          2  in schools by properly trained health educators.

          3                 On comprehensive sex education and

          4  the widespread availability of condoms is the only

          5  way to ensure young people learn about healthy sex

          6  behavior.

          7                 If implemented as intended, the new

          8  curriculum will be a valuable tool in addressing the

          9  clear trend of increased HIV infection rates among

         10  young men who have sex with other men.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, I guess

         12  you've expressed concerns about whether or not the

         13  redacting information or the information they

         14  eliminate from the high school supplement to

         15  curriculum Reducing the Risk, I have a concern about

         16  that also, and as you said, you don't have the

         17  information. You don't know what has been redacted;

         18  is that correct?

         19                 You heard the testimony, I think they

         20  admitted the fact they are eliminating some stuff;

         21  is that correct? So, you heard earlier me reprimand

         22  them about not giving us information, so when we get

         23  the information we will share it with you. Have you

         24  asked them for it directly yourself?

         25                 MS. LEONG: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Have you gotten

          3  the information yourself? So, you can't even make an

          4  evaluation then.

          5                 But I would tend to agree with you,

          6  and I was discussing this with staff just yesterday.

          7  If I'm the manufacturer of this material of this

          8  curriculum of Reducing the Risk, I don't know

          9  whether or not I would allow DOE to redact certain

         10  information, because it will water down some of the

         11  effectiveness of the curricula.

         12                 So, I would assume that if they did,

         13  then it's been approved by the manufacturers of this

         14  curriculum, yes?

         15                 MS. YEUNG: I doubt it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You doubt it?

         17                 MS. YEUNG: New York City is the

         18  largest school system in the country.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you know, if

         20  they want their business, they would allow them to

         21  do it, in essence?

         22                 Well, I think that I have the same

         23  concerns that you have and your concerns are as

         24  advocates, in the field, and I have that concern and

         25  I have that concern as a legislator, and so when we
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          2  get the information, you can be in contact with our

          3  staff, we will be glad to make a copy for you.

          4                 And as I said to you, we expect the

          5  information tomorrow or the next day. If not, I will

          6  be contacting counsel's office to subpoena them,

          7  subpoena the records. And if we have to go to court,

          8  then we go to court. I am ready to do battle with

          9  respects to making sure that we have the information

         10  to evaluate what they're doing. And it should be

         11  transparent. It should be on line, open to everyone.

         12  We shouldn't have to beg for it. We shouldn't have

         13  to do freedom of information for it.

         14                 We're not asking for names of

         15  students, their Social Security number, their home

         16  address of phone numbers; we're asking for a written

         17  curriculum that's available.

         18                 In fact, can't we contact the company

         19  itself and request a copy of it?

         20                 MS. YEUNG: We have the company

         21  copies.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you have

         23  unredacted copies?

         24                 MS. YEUNG: We do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But what we want
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          2  to see is what was redacted by DOE; is that correct?

          3                 MS. YEUNG: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So that you can

          5  analyze that and determine the effectiveness of it.

          6                 MS. YEUNG: That's right.

          7                 MS. LEONG: One thing I want to point

          8  out is that --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Turn on the

         10  button, please.

         11                 MS. LEONG: One thing I want to point

         12  out is that every, all the curriculas that were

         13  discussed today, both Health Teacher, which they

         14  decided not to use, HealthSmart and Reducing the

         15  Risk, all have condom demonstrations. And they were

         16  all redacted, as we understand it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As we understand

         18  it.

         19                 MS. LEONG: As we understand it. We

         20  haven't seen what they've produced yet, but...

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But Health

         22  Teacher is not new, though.

         23                 MS. LEONG: Correct. But it used to

         24  have a condom demonstration in the actual booklet.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.
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          2                 MS. LEONG: And DOE went through and

          3  put on every page a little sticker that said DOE

          4  does not want you to do the condom demonstrations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          6                 And advocates, what is the

          7  manufacturer saying, and the advocates saying, that

          8  condom demonstrations --

          9                 MS. LEONG: Condom demonstrations are

         10  the best way to teach how to properly use a condom.

         11  To actually show what you have to do and go through

         12  all the proper steps.

         13                 MS. YEUNG: It's like having a car.

         14                 MS. LEONG: Yes, right.

         15                 MS. YEUNG: I can't talk you through

         16  it, you've got to get behind the wheel and...

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, we can

         18  talk about it, but you need practical experience.

         19                 MS. YEUNG: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And practical

         21  experience. And in the curriculum is practical

         22  experience on a model, or is it done or what? For

         23  example, is there a model of a penis, or is there a

         24  Coke bottle? Or what is used in the practice of the

         25  demonstration?
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          2                 MS. LEONG: I believe in HealthSmart

          3  they just use a hand.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Use a hand.

          5                 MS. LEONG: Just unroll the condom

          6  onto your hand.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, yes. Some

          8  people don't even want to talk about that. But I

          9  think it's important to know. I mean, they're using

         10  a model penis that's erect or using a Coke bottle,

         11  using two fingers; what are you using? These are

         12  appropriate questions, right?

         13                 MS. LEONG: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, all right.

         15  I'm sorry.

         16                 Thank, Joel. Thank you very much.

         17                 MS. LEONG: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The last panel

         19  that we have is Helen Aronstein, Maria Martello and

         20  Joyce Brown.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And besides this

         22  last panel, is there anyone here that wanted to

         23  speak that did not have the opportunity to speak,

         24  besides this last panel?

         25                 Okay, so please come forward.

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2                 Did you want to speak? Okay.

          3                 Okay, ladies, you may begin. Just

          4  identify yourself and your organization, your title,

          5  and you may begin.

          6                 MS. MARTELLO: My name is Maria

          7  Martello, and I'm just a New York resident who is

          8  actually concerned about the sex education --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull that mic

         10  closer to you. You're a New York City resident?

         11                 MS. MARTELLO: I'm a New York City

         12  resident, and I'm just concerned about the sex

         13  education in New York City schools.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Very good.

         15                 MS. MARTELLO: Well, I would like to

         16  thank you, both Committees on Education and Health,

         17  for giving me this opportunity.

         18                 I have some statistics that we all

         19  heard before. What I think is really appalling is

         20  that in, among other developed nations, the US ranks

         21  first in teenage pregnancy rates, and also birth and

         22  abortion rates and also has really high STI rates.

         23                 And that's what basically brings me

         24  here is what's really going on, why are we really

         25  behind all other developed nations?
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          2                 So, I realize that some studies also

          3  support this, that the United States is basically

          4  endorsing abstinence only. So which I do think is

          5  the most effective method against unplanned

          6  pregnancies and STIs, but I don't think it works

          7  when teenagers are already having sex. What are we

          8  really teaching them?

          9                 So, I think if we ignore these facts

         10  and assume that abstinence can only prevent

         11  pregnancies and STIs, we're not only denying the

         12  basic principal that teenagers are already sexually

         13  active, but we are also perpetuating the idea they

         14  are incapable to make sensible decisions regarding

         15  their own health and wellbeing if we give them the

         16  right tools and information that is appropriate to

         17  their age.

         18                 So, we may be able to delay

         19  initiation, but we won't be able to stop it, and it

         20  hasn't been proven by studies that analyze a lot of

         21  abstinence only programs. So, hiding this crucial

         22  information will not prevent sex from happening, it

         23  would only keep teenagers in the dark, as we heard

         24  from the panel of those ninth graders, and it will

         25  result in negative consequences that we see and
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          2  places the US so high among other nations.

          3                 To me it is imperative to teach

          4  teenagers about their sexuality, about contraception

          5  and prevention, and to include a more comprehensive

          6  program that is based on scientific facts and

          7  doesn't marginalize students, such as those who do

          8  not believe in abstinence until marriage, who do not

          9  believe in marriage as an institution, and also

         10  those who have other sexual orientations.

         11                 So, thank you for listening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         13                 Next.

         14                 MS. ARONSTEIN: My name is Helen

         15  Aronstein. I was a teacher in a New York City high

         16  school where I taught an elective course in human

         17  sexuality for more than 20 years. I then worked at

         18  the New York City Board of Education for six years

         19  in what was then the Office of Health, Physical

         20  Education, and I am not going to speak at length

         21  because I think you heard it all. But I do have two

         22  requests of this very august body. Regardless of the

         23  curriculum that will eventually be implemented in

         24  the New York City school system, we all know that

         25  there is no way for any curriculum to have any
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          2  effective use unless we have trained teachers, and I

          3  find it absolutely appalling that the Department of

          4  Education does not require evidence of a health

          5  education course in order to get a license to teach,

          6  but in order to get an early childhood or elementary

          7  school license to teach in New York City, and I do

          8  believe that it is time for the City to change that

          9  licensing procedure, and when they do that, all of

         10  the education programs that are training

         11  under-graduate and graduate students that will

         12  eventually come to New York City, especially CUNY,

         13  that they will make certain that they make it a

         14  diploma requirement for those people who elect

         15  education as a major.

         16                 Now, Lori Benson alluded to the fact

         17  that we only have a small number of teachers in high

         18  schools that are trained because of the separation

         19  of the health and physical education licenses.

         20                 Now, I guess I am the family

         21  historian here because I am old enough to have been

         22  here when we started all of this, and it's hard for

         23  me to believe, but 35 years ago, just about now, I

         24  appeared here in the Mayor's Office with five

         25  students, and you know during the Vietnam wars we
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          2  listened to the students because we were afraid they

          3  were going to burn the school down, so we came here

          4  to have a conversation with the Mayor, and the

          5  students told him that we requested a course that

          6  was relevant, a relevant sex education course in the

          7  high schools, and we proceeded to do that. And for

          8  the small number of people who are here today, in

          9  1986 and October of 1986, under Chancellor Quinones,

         10  and Robert Wagner, who was then the president of the

         11  Board of Education, mandated a course in all the

         12  schools. As far as I know, that mandate still

         13  exists, and why we are not fulfilling this mandate I

         14  don't know, and the curriculum which was then called

         15  Family Living and Sex Education was a marvelous

         16  curriculum. In the summer of 1984, '85 and '86 we

         17  spent the entire summer training teachers, thousands

         18  of them to implement the family living including sex

         19  education. That is not being done now, and the only

         20  way that we can have a cadre of teachers of no cost

         21  to this City is to require that every teacher who

         22  comes into the system show evidence of the

         23  completion of a health education course. And also,

         24  since you are such an articulate chair, I say that

         25  you need to go and tell the Chancellor that

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEES ON EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  immediately he needs to put the license of teacher

          3  of health and physical education back as a

          4  requirement in the high schools so that physical

          5  education teachers who had no health education

          6  classes are not the ones who are going to come into

          7  the classroom. I respectfully ask you to do that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          9                 Last, but not least.

         10                 MS. BROWN: Hi. Joyce Brown. I've

         11  appeared here before.

         12                 I also -- the guard, I don't know

         13  what his title is, made copies of my presentation to

         14  the New York State Department of Health hearing in

         15  October.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, and I have

         17  that in front of me.

         18                 MS. BROWN: It's having to do with the

         19  importance of health education. When the person who

         20  is in charge of this new program for New York City

         21  schools, I got the impression that you thought you

         22  might be just a cash cow to the Department of

         23  Education. They just take your money and they do

         24  with it as they wanted to, since there didn't seem

         25  to be any documentation that there was anything
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          2  having to do with health in the schools. There was

          3  no accountability in the schools for health

          4  education. That was my impression. And my impression

          5  was that the people's whose tax went to pay for this

          6  health education in my zip code, your zip code, the

          7  schools, the Department of Education just did what

          8  they wanted with it. They may be doing like they do

          9  with the school nurses. They get nurses from

         10  agencies who have, often have no knowledge of

         11  children or the background has nothing to do with

         12  children, and they may not be into nursing or they

         13  have been out and then they have these nurses from

         14  the agencies take a test and they are deemed nurses

         15  with the Department of Education, in actuality they

         16  are not, nor are they nurses with the Department of

         17  Health.

         18                 I understand that the Department of

         19  Education does not want to hire any nurses. That is

         20  what, I worked in the schools as a school nurse

         21  under the Department here recently, and that's what

         22  the school nurses told me. I have also been a health

         23  educator in various schools, teaching sex education,

         24  and it's interesting, but the parents, I've taught

         25  the parents as well as the students, and the parents
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          2  were just as interested in sex education as the

          3  students, because they didn't have that much actual

          4  knowledge.

          5                 I taught sex education to the

          6  children in one of the foster home agencies, and the

          7  students said they had enough information about HIV,

          8  they wanted to know about the other Sexually

          9  Transmitted Infections. And I hope, this is not your

         10  second term, I understand you have two term limits

         11  now, don't you?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, Joel Rivera

         13  and myself and about 35 other Council members' terms

         14  expire December 31st, 2009, and right now we're term

         15  limited, meaning that we cannot run for a City

         16  Council position again.

         17                 MS. BROWN: So there will be no

         18  follow-up?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, there would

         20  be follow-up. In fact, as I indicated, you may have

         21  been here, I said to Lori Benson, the Director, in

         22  six months will you have statistics on

         23  accountability as to whether or not? And she

         24  indicated yes. And I said we will be following up.

         25                 So, there is a possibility that we
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          2  may have another hearing, not necessarily in six

          3  months, maybe a year, because there are a lot of

          4  other subject areas that we have to hold hearings

          5  on.

          6                 MS. BROWN: But will the other Chair

          7  follow-up? Because if you don't follow-up they'll

          8  just go back to ignoring spending the money the way

          9  they want it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We will

         11  definitely follow-up. We will have another hearing.

         12  As quickly is another question. It depends on what's

         13  appropriate at the time, and we do planning

         14  basically six months in advance.

         15                 MS. BROWN: Thank you so much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So let me thank

         17  you all for coming in. Knowing that you are the last

         18  panel, I must say that it was pretty interesting to

         19  hear the responses from Ms. Benson representing DOE.

         20  As you know, I was not happy. We were not happy with

         21  the fact that they did not give us information in

         22  order to analyze the former curriculum and the

         23  current curriculum. And quite frankly, I believe

         24  it's clearly intentional, without a doubt, in my

         25  mind it is intentional.
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          2                 MS. BROWN: I'd be insulted.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, that's why

          4  I felt a reprimand was clearly appropriate, and they

          5  sent her as a point person, either she knew she was

          6  going to be reprimanded, or if she didn't know, and

          7  they didn't ask her for the curriculum, then she

          8  needs to go and talk to her boss. They set her up.

          9  And I don't believe she should be set up that way,

         10  and to take the heat the way she did.

         11                 But I'm telling you, if we don't get

         12  the information within a couple of days, I will be

         13  asking this City Council to subpoena the Department

         14  of Education, not even to write and request it, we

         15  have already requested it so I'm not asking for it

         16  anymore. I'm demanding it. And I will subpoena it.

         17  That's how I will demand it.

         18                 MS. BROWN: Could you reduce funds,

         19  which is always a stand-up, keeps people on their

         20  toes?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, yes, there's

         22  a possibility we could hold up funding, not

         23  necessarily for a specific program but overall. If

         24  we wanted to hold up approving the budget or

         25  approving the budget, we could do that. I don't
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          2  think that that's going to happen, quite frankly.

          3                 MS. BROWN: Well, if they're treating

          4  you like a cash cow and not paying any attention to

          5  health, you know, why not?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, hopefully

          7  we won't have to go down to that road.

          8                 MS. BROWN: It's not diplomatic, but

          9  they're not being diplomatic.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Hopefully we

         11  won't go down that road. Hopefully they'll give us

         12  the information we need to analyze it, and so

         13  advocates can have it also.

         14                 You've heard the advocates say that

         15  they want it also, so they can analyze it to see

         16  whether or not the curriculum is effective or not.

         17  If you've got certain information, if you take out

         18  certain, what do you call it, wall-bearing beams of

         19  a house, it's going to fall and collapse. And that's

         20  what they want to see, whether or not the

         21  redactations made by DOE is watering down the

         22  curriculum to make it ineffective. And that's not

         23  unreasonable for advocates to do or for us to do.

         24                 Anyway, ladies, let me thank you all

         25  for coming in. And thank my colleague Joel Rivera
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          2  and the staff that has been involved with putting

          3  this together and all of the people that have come

          4  in and testified. We have a lot of following up to

          5  do in which we will do, and on behalf of myself and

          6  all of the members of the Education Committee, and

          7  Joel Rivera, our Majority Leader, and all of the

          8  members of the Health Committee, we want to thank

          9  all of you for participating. And with that, it is

         10  now 4:00 and this meeting is now adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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